### A CLINICAL STUDY OF SCAR FORMATION IN THE HUMAN PALATAL MUCOSA

by

Breanne Elizabeth Joslin

D.M.D., The University of Manitoba, 2005

B.Sc., The University of Manitoba, 2001

### A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

### THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

### MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

### THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Craniofacial Science)

### THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

October 2013

© Breanne Elizabeth Joslin, 2013

### Abstract

Scar formation is a frequent consequence of wound healing and has widespread negative effects on individuals' quality of life, both physically and psychologically. For most people, scars are unsightly, but in addition to this, they can result in serious morbidities such as pruritus, pain, contracture, and decreased heat tolerance in severe situations. The association between degree of scarring and depth of dermal injury has been recognized by surgeons for many years, however the cellular and molecular basis for these observations remains poorly understood. Interestingly, oral wounds have been shown to heal faster and with less clinical and histological scar formation than similar skin wounds. It was hypothesized that palatal wounds in general show relatively little scarring and also that there is increased scar formation of the palatal mucosa following a connective tissue graft (CTG) harvest (deep wound) than a free gingival graft (FGG) harvest (superficial wound). This was a retrospective clinical study carried out at the University of British Columbia, Faculty of Dentistry. Intraoral photographs were taken of the palate in 37 subjects. Each subject had undergone a CTG and/or FGG harvest by a Graduate Periodontics resident more than six months prior to the study. 23 FGG and 23 CTG scars were assessed. Two independent calibrated blinded examiners assessed the photographs using a modified version of the Manchester Scar Proforma. A value of zero, one, or two was given for each parameter, with no difference from normal tissue scored as zero and gross mismatch scored as two. The values for each parameter were summed to produce a total scar score, zero to six, for each site. The component parameters were also examined individually so that color, contour, and distortion could be evaluated independently. The results of this study demonstrated that scar formation in the palatal mucosa is minimal and in many cases, non-existent. CTG donor sites did not have more severe scar formation than FGG sites.

## Preface

This is a clinical study and research approval was granted by the UBC Clinical Research Ethics Board and designated UBC CREB number H12-00315. This work has not been published previously. All parts of the study were completed by Breanne Joslin. Statistical consultation was obtained through Rick White, Department of Statistics, UBC.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstra	act		ii
Prefac	:e		iii
Table	of C	Contents	iv
List of	f Tab	bles	vi
List of	f Fig	ures	vii
List of	f Abł	breviations	ix
Ackno	owled	dgements	xi
Chapt	ter 1	: Review of the Literature	1
1.1	Inti	roduction	1
1.2	No	ormal composition of oral mucosa	2
1.3	An	atomical differences between skin and gingiva	5
1.4	An	atomical composition of scars	6
1.5	Ov	verview of wound healing	7
1	.5.1	Hemostasis and inflammation	7
1	.5.2	Re-epithelialization	12
1	.5.3	Granulation tissue formation	
1	.5.4	Angiogenesis	
1.6	Sca	ar formation	
1	.6.1	Inflammatory response	
1	.6.2	TGF-β activity	
1	.6.3	Cell to ECM interaction	

1.6.4 Fibroblast phenotype	
1.7 Unique characteristics of oral wound healing	
1.8 Fetal wound healing	
1.9 Wound healing of the cleft lip/ palate	
1.10 Methods of scar assessment	
Chapter 2: Aim of the Study	36
Chapter 3: Materials and Methods	
Chapter 4: Results	41
4.1 Demographics	
4.2 Scar formation and graft type	
4.3 Scar formation and age	
4.4 Scar formation and elapsed time since wounding	
4.5 Scar formation and gender	
Chapter 5: Discussion	60
Chapter 6: Conclusion and Future Directions	66
Bibliography	

# List of Tables

Table 1 Modified Manchester Scale scar scoring classification	40
---	----

# List of Figures

Figure 1	Illustration of palatal tissue and FGG and CTG harvest thicknesses	38
Figure 2	Age of study population	46
Figure 3	Sample of sites – color	47
Figure 4	Sample of sites – contour	48
Figure 5	Sample of sites – distortion	49
Figure 6	A comparison of scar formation between FGG and CTG donor sites	50
Figure 7	A comparison of scar formation (color)	
	between FGG and CTG donor sites	50
Figure 8	A comparison of scar formation (contour)	
	between FGG and CTG donor sites	51
Figure 9	A comparison of scar formation (distortion)	
	between FGG and CTG donor sites	51
Figure 10	A comparison of scar formation and subject age at time of wounding	52
Figure 11	A comparison of scar formation (color)	
	and subject age at time of wounding	52
Figure 12	A comparison of scar formation (contour)	
	and subject age at time of wounding	53
Figure 13	A comparison of scar formation (distortion)	
	and subject age at time of wounding	53
Figure 14	A comparison of scar formation and elapsed time since wounding	54
Figure 15	A comparison of scar formation (color)	
	and elapsed time since wounding	54

Figure 16	A comparison of scar formation (contour)	
	and elapsed time since wounding	55
Figure 17	A comparison of scar formation (distortion)	
	and elapsed time since wounding	55
Figure 18	A comparison of scar formation (color)	
	between males and females	56
Figure 19	A comparison of scar formation (contour)	
	between males and females	56
Figure 20	A comparison of scar formation (distortion)	
	between males and females	57
Figure 21	Variation in surgical technique amongst FGG (F1 and F2)	
	and CTG (C1 and C2) sites	58
Figure 22	Variation in healing response amongst FGG (examples A and B)	
	and CTG (examples C and D) sites	59

# List of Abbreviations

CTG	connective tissue graft
DETC	dendritic epidermal T-cells
ECM	extracellular matrix
EDA	cellular extradomain A
EPC	endothelial precursor cells
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
ERK	extracellular signal regulated kinase
FGG	free gingival graft
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
IFN	interferon
IGF	insulin-like growth factor
IL	interleukin
KGF	keratinocyte growth factor
MMPs	matrix metalloproteinases
MSS	Manchester scar scale
PDGF	platelet derived growth factor
POSAS	patient and observer scar assessment scale
SPARC	secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine
Stat3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TGF	transforming growth factor

Th	T-helper
TIMPs	tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VSS	Vancouver scar scale

### Acknowledgements

I offer my enduring gratitude to the faculty, staff and my fellow students in the Faculty of Dentistry, UBC. I am especially appreciative of the guidance, expertise, and understanding shown by Dr.Hannu Larjava throughout my studies.

I would also like to thank the UBC patients who volunteered to participate in this study and who showed a remarkable interest in contributing to science. I am inspired by their character and was fortunate to work alongside such great people.

### **Chapter 1: Review of the Literature**

#### 1.1 Introduction

Scar formation is a frequent consequence of wound healing and has widespread negative effects on individuals' quality of life, both physically and psychologically. For most people, scars are unsightly, but in addition to this, they can result in serious morbidities such as pruritus, pain, contracture, and decreased heat tolerance in severe situations (Durani et al., 2008; Gauglitz et al., 2011). The occurrence of each varies amongst individuals and depends on many factors including the size of wound, the individual's sex, age, and health status (Gauglitz et al., 2011).

The association between degree of scarring, and depth of dermal injury has been recognized by surgeons for many years. While the cellular and molecular basis for these observations remains poorly understood, they are the basis for surgical techniques such as the split-thickness skin graft and also for the treatment of partial thickness burns (Dunkin et al., 2007). The fundamental principle that shallow wounds do not scar serves as the basis for laser treatment of superficial vascular malformations and for facial resurfacing (Ross et al., 2000).

In the skin, penetration of the reticular dermis has been found to be the critical depth of wound that result in scar formation. Those wounds that are confined to the superficial papillary dermis or to the epithelium do not result in scarring (Dunkin et al., 2007). In contrast, wounds that penetrate the lamina propria of palatal mucosa tend to result in minimal scarring (Häkkinen et al., 2013). To date, there are no known clinical studies that compare the type of scar formation in the palatal mucosa to the depth of wounding. A critical depth of wounding is not known.

This study compares the scar formation in healed wounds created from the harvest of free gingival (FGGs) and connective tissue grafts (CTGs). In theory, FGGs involve the removal of much less tissue, and a more shallow depth of penetration than CTG harvests. The FGG harvest involves removal of the epithelium and a small portion of the lamina propria. In contrast, the CTG harvest requires penetration to the deepest layers of the lamina propria, often to the periosteum, in order to obtain adequate graft thickness.

It is hypothesized that there is increased scar formation of the palatal mucosa following a CTG graft harvest than a FGG graft harvest.

### 1.2 Normal composition of oral mucosa

The human hard palate is covered by oral mucosa. It contains a keratinized stratified squamous epithelium called oral epithelium and an underlying connective tissue layer, called the lamina propria (Gartner, 1994). The lamina propria contains a dense fibro-elastic material with pervasive vascular and neural networks (Stephens and Genever, 2007). Deep to the lamina propria is the submucosa, however this region is poorly defined in the oral mucosa. In many areas of the hard palate, the submucosa is composed of loose, glandular connective tissue, which separates the lamina propria from bone (Bartold et al., 2000). There is typically much less glandular tissue in the posterior area of the hard palate when compared to the anterior.

The most superficial layer of the oral mucosa, oral epithelium, is continuously renewed through mitotic division. The turnover time for cells in the oral epithelium is estimated to be 25 days (Nanci, 2008). There are four cell layers that make up the oral epithelium namely the basal

(stratum basale), prickle (stratum spinosum), granular (stratum granulosum), and keratinized (stratum corneum) layers (Schroeder and Amstad-Jossi, 1984).

Epithelium is separated from the connective tissue by the basement membrane that is composed of two distinct layers, namely lamina lucida and lamina densa. The lamina lucida contains laminin-332 anchoring fibrils that link hemidesmosomes to the connective tissue. The lamina densa is closest to the connective tissue and contains a mesh of type IV collagen fibrils as well as multiple laminins, entactin, perlecan, etc. Anchoring fibers (type VII collagen) below the lamina densa connect to the anchoring fibrils to further stabilize the connective tissue epithelium border (Ghohestani et al., 2001).

Basal cells of the epithelium lay in contact with the basement membrane and are connected to the basal lamina via  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  integrin. The cells are cuboidal or cylindrical in shape and are capable of mitotic division. Basal cells have a high nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio and contain a large number of organelles including mitochondria and keratin filaments (Menon, 2002). As new cells are produced, older daughter cells move through the epithelium as keratinocytes. The movement from basement membrane to the outer surface of the epithelium takes approximately 1 month and this is typically in harmony with the rate of cell division in the basal layer (Lindhe et al., 2009).

The prickle layer (stratum spinosum) contains cytoplasmic processes, which resemble spines and give the cell layer a prickly type appearance. The cells are relatively large, and polyhedral in shape. Adjacent cells in the stratum spinosum are held together by tight junctions which create an important barrier function (Menon, 2002).

Keratinocytes undergo a number of changes as they move from the basal layer to the epithelial surface. Examples of such changes include an increase in both the number of tonofilaments in the cytoplasm and the number of desmosomes (Menon, 2002). In comparison, the number of organelles such as mitochondria, lamellae of rough endoplasmic reticulum, and golgi complexes decreases as the keratinocytes move toward the cell surface (Garant, 2003; Lindhe et al., 2009).

As cells move through the spinosum towards the granulosum, electron dense keratohyaline bodies are found. Glycogen containing granules are also found in the stratum granulosum and are thought to be involved in keratin synthesis (Garant, 2003).

The transition of cells from the granulosum to the stratum corneum is marked by the sudden keratinization of the cytoplasm of the keratinocyte and the associated absence of organelles such as endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria, nucleus, and Golgi complex. The cells now lack the ability to carry out protein synthesis and energy production and are dependent on other cells in order to differentiate and undergo keratinization (Schroeder and Amstad-Jossi, 1984). While keratin producing cells make up approximately 90% of the total cell population in oral epithelium there are other cells types present including melanocytes, Langerhans cells, Merkel's cells, and inflammatory cells such as polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Lindhe et al., 2009).

Deep to the epithelial layer of the oral mucosa lies the connective tissue layer, known as the lamina propria. It is composed of collagen fibers (approximately 60% of connective tissue volume), fibroblasts (around 5%), vessels and nerves (around 35%) (Lindhe et al., 2009). The major cell types found in the connective tissue are fibroblasts and they play a vital role in

development, maintenance, and repair of gingival connective tissue (Bartold et al., 2000). In addition to fibroblasts, gingival connective tissue also contains mast cells, macrophages, and inflammatory cells. They exist within an amorphous ground substance containing proteoglycans and glycoproteins (Bartold et al., 2000).

The boundary between the oral epithelium and connective tissue is wavy in nature. There are connective tissue papillae that project into the epithelium forming complementary invaginations called rete pegs within the epithelium. Rete pegs are recognized as a characteristic morphologic feature of epithelium (Lindhe et al., 2009).

### 1.3 Anatomical differences between skin and gingiva

Most studies of scar formation in the literature examine skin. Skin and palatal mucosa share many similarities, including a keratinized epithelium with an underlying layer of connective tissue. The connective tissue layer is referred to as the dermis in skin and as the lamina propria in mucosa (Stephens and Genever, 2007). The two structures, skin and palatal mucosa, share similar functions acting as a physical barrier to noxious agents, initiating an immune response when needed, providing thermoregulation, osmoregulation, and electrolyte balance (Stephens and Genever, 2007). While skin and mucosa share many common features and functions, there are differences between the two. Mucosa does not contain hair follicles or sweat glands. This difference may affect wound healing as hair follicles are known to aid in the process of re-epithelialization (Ito and Cotsarelis, 2008). In comparison to skin, there is greater variation in the differentiation of oral mucosa at different sites (Schroeder and Amstad-Jossi, 1984). The hard palate and gingiva, for instance, are fully keratinized, while the buccal mucosa is not. An

additional difference between the two structures is the rate of cell turnover; approximately four to five times faster in the gingiva than the epidermis (Garant, 2003).

#### **1.4** Anatomical composition of scars

On a molecular level, scars are due to the aberrant formation and modulation of the extracellular matrix of skin. They may form in mucosa as well, however wound healing in the human oral mucosa results in significantly less scarring than that of skin (Wong et al., 2009). Scars are often classified as hypertrophic or keloid, but may also be present in more subtle forms such as fine lines of fibrotic tissue (Slemp and Kirschner, 2006). There are clinical, histological, and epidemiological differences between the more severe hypertrophic and keloid scar types. Hypertrophic scars do not extend beyond the original wounding site and consist of mainly wavy, well-organized type I collagen bundles oriented parallel to the tissue surface (Gauglitz et al., 2011). They do not exhibit the typical basket-weave arrangement of collagen observed in normal tissue. This may account for why scar tissue has only approximately 70% of its original tensile strength even years following the scar formation (Clark et al., 1996). Hypertrophic scar formation tends to occur four to eight weeks post wounding and may show rapid proliferation for up to six months (Gauglitz et al., 2011). Keloids, on the other hand, project beyond the original wound margin and consist of large thick type I and III collagen bundles. They represent an imbalance between the extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition and degradation, which results in progressive ECM accumulation. In contrast to hypertrophic scars, keloids may continue to proliferate indefinitely and may even arise spontaneously without an inciting injury. A common histological finding between the two fibrotic scar types is the overproduction of multiple fibroblast proteins, including fibronectin (Gauglitz et al., 2011). Hypertrophic scar incidence

varies from 40-70% following surgery and as high as 91% following burn injury (Gauglitz et al., 2011). Keloid formation is less common, however is found to be more common in dark-skinned individuals (as high as 16% in African populations) and seems to show some genetic predilection (Marneros and Krieg, 2004).

#### 1.5 Overview of wound healing

Wound healing represents a complex balance amongst key cells including neutrophils, macrophages, lymphocytes, endothelial cells, keratinocytes, and fibroblasts. These cells function in overlapping sequence during the wound healing process. Any shift in the balance amongst them can result in the wound healing process being compromised. In general, there are four stages to wound healing including hemostasis and inflammation, re-epithelialization, granulation tissue formation and angiogenesis, and tissue remodeling.

#### 1.5.1 Hemostasis and inflammation

Hemostasis is key in the early stages of wound healing and functions to seal the wound. Primary hemostasis occurs immediately after injury to blood vessels. Spasm within the smooth muscle of vessel walls results in the retraction of severed arteries and vasoconstriction of arteries and veins (Ruggeri, 2009).

Coagulation is initiated by activation of factor XII and by exposure of tissue factor III via wounding. In a series of zymogen activations known as the Waterfall Cascade Model of clotting, activated factor X results in the formation of thrombin. Thrombin affects wound healing through its chemotactic and mitogenic activities upon macrophages, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells (Hoffman and Monroe, 2007). Thrombin is essential to wound healing and mice which are deficient in factors IX or VIII exhibit delayed wound healing (Monroe et al., 2010).

The production of thrombin catalyzes the formation of fibrin from fibrinogen and results in the formation of a fibrin rich blood clot. Fibrin cross-linked with plasma fibronectin creates a fibrin plug for hemostasis. Fibrin itself serves as adhesion for leukocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells as well as a reservoir for growth factors such as FGF-2 and VEGF (Laurens et al., 2006). The formation of fibrin is closely associated with a simultaneous fibrinolytic mechanism. This prevents untoward clotting at sites distant to the injury and also protects against the development of atherosclerotic vascular disease.

Platelets are derived from megakaryotes and serve primarily as mediators of hemostasis. Under normal healthy conditions; they are confined to the intravascular spaces. Wounding results in the exposure of subendothelial tissue and types IV and V collagen and promotes the binding and aggregation and platelets (Bilodeau and Hamm, 2007). The initial binding and aggregation of platelets also causes recruitment of additional platelets and different types of leukocytes to the site of injury. This serves to amplify the coagulation response. Platelets also secrete adhesive proteins such as fibronectin, fibrinogen, thrombospondin, and vonWillebrand factor VIII which aid in the clotting process (Dale, 2005).

Platelets release soluble mediators like serotonin, PDGF, transforming growth factor- $\alpha$ , adenosine phosphate, platelet activating factor, factor V, 1, 2-hydroxy eicosatetranoic acid, and thromboxane A2. They are capable of differential responses to stimuli which may actually reflect differences in the Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis or age of the platelets (Alberio et al., 2002; Dale, 2005).  $\alpha$ -

granules released by platelets create different microenvironments at the wound site. Through the release of distinct populations of  $\alpha$ -granules, both inhibitors and promoters of angiogenesis are released by platelets (Italiano et al., 2008).

O'Brien suggests that the platelet may play an inhibitory role in inflammation in some settings while becoming pro-inflammatory in other settings where inflammatory mediators are present (O'Brien, 2012). An example of their pro-inflammatory role is the release of interleukin-1, which can exacerbate the immune response (Ware et al., 2013).

A robust inflammatory response is regarded as the typical response following wounding. Inflammation has been, and continues to be, an area of significant interest in science with respect to wound healing. Following injury, the innate immune response is the first to be activated (Shaw and Martin, 2009) and includes keratinocytes, mast cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, and in some cases T-cells. The innate immune response is a fast process and in some cases, such as with mast cell degranulation, can occur almost immediately. Innate immune cells initiate the inflammatory process and cause the release and/or production of pro-inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, histamine, leukotriene and prostanoids. Pro-inflammatory mediators drive neutrophil migration to the site of injury, but also causes vasodilation, increased vascular permeability, and activation of endothelial cells (Turabelidze and DiPietro, 2011).

In the early phase of wound healing, leukocytes, the most prominent being neutrophils, are recruited to the wound site in large numbers via chemotaxis. Leukocytes produce cytokines and chemoattractants and so their accumulation drives a positive feedback loop resulting in more and

more leukocyte recruitment. This, in turn, causes amplification of the inflammatory response (Robson et al., 2001). With reference to neutrophils specifically, their function is understood as mainly to prevent bacterial infection. Neutrophils are very effective in their role as a "cleanup cell" and they accomplish this mainly through phagocytosis (Broughton, Janis and Attinger, 2006b). They are capable of producing nets of histones and DNA which trap and kill microbes, however this requires neutrophils to move through intact capillary walls into surrounding tissue (Brinkmann et al., 2004). This serves a useful purpose of decontaminating the wound, however it also results in damage to intact tissue and vasculature. To assist in their microbicidal function, neutrophils produce substances such as reactive oxygen species and proteases which kill not only pathogens, but also healthy host cells (Broughton, Janis and Attinger, 2006a). Thus, there is a cost to the host organism for mounting an inflammatory response. In fact, studies have shown faster wound closure in mice with induced neutropenia than in immunocompetent controls (Dovi et al., 2003).

As mentioned earlier, mast cells also comprise part of the innate immune response. Those present at the site of injury degranulate following wounding, releasing stored inflammatory mediators. Mast cells are also recruited to wounds, but take longer to arrive than the recruited neutrophils. The fate of mast cells following their action at the site of injury is less well understood than that of neutrophils, however a fluid relationship seems to exist between the two cell types. Studies have shown that a decrease in the number of mast cells at a wound site also results in fewer neutrophils (Szpaderska et al., 2003; Weller et al., 2006; Wilgus, 2008).

The reduction of neutrophils following their initial recruitment to the wound site is an important aspect in limiting the inflammatory response. Macrophages play a role in this process and are capable of causing both neutrophil apoptosis and phagocytosis (Meszaros et al., 1999). For this reason, and also because of their ability to produce growth factors necessary for angiogenesis and fibrogenesis, macrophages are regarded as an indispensable cell in the wound healing process (Danon et al., 1989).

While neutrophils and macrophages dominate the early stages of wound healing, T-lymphocytes are present in the late inflammatory phase, reaching their peak eight days post-wounding (Martin and Muir, 1990). T-lymphocytes are thought to be attracted to the wound site by the interleukin-1 (IL-1), complement components, and immunoglobulin G (IgG) breakdown products. Their exact role in wound healing is poorly understood, however the balance of particular types of T-lymphocytes, CD4<sup>+</sup> cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells, affects wound healing differently. CD4<sup>+</sup> cells have been shown to improve wound healing while CD8<sup>+</sup> cells impair healing (Park and Barbul, 2004). Epithelial tissues contain a unique type of resident T-cell called dendritic epidermal T-cells (DETC). Their increased number, as a result of injured keratinocytes, is thought to improve wound healing (Jameson and Havran, 2007).

As discussed the innate immune response results in the production of vast numbers of neutrophils and macrophages, which are the main producers of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Cytokines are multifunctional and critical to both the inflammatory and remodeling stages of wound healing. Some of these cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , are more prevalent during the inflammatory phase of wound healing (Singer and Clark, 1999). IL-1 is produced by a

number of cells including keratinocytes, neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages. It encourages proliferation of keratinocytes and endothelial cells. In addition, IL-1B helps to activate many of the innate immune cells that are present at the wound site (Barrientos et al., 2008). IL-6 is another pro-inflammatory cytokine that has increased expression after wounding. Similarly to IL-1, IL-6 is produced by neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages. However, it is also produced by fibroblasts (Gallucci et al., 2004). IL-6 is thought to be of significant importance during the early stages of wound healing and mice that are deficient in IL-6 have a healing time of more than three times that of wild-type controls (Gallucci et al., 2004). A delay in reepithelialization as well as impaired formation of granulation tissue was found to contribute to the slower healing within the test group (Gallucci et al., 2000). In addition to IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  shows upregulation during the early stages of wound healing. The nature of its function is dependent on its concentration. At low concentrations it promotes wound healing through indirect stimulation of inflammation and increasing macrophage produced growth factors. However, TNF- $\alpha$  is a hindrance to wound healing when present in high concentrations as it suppresses the production of ECM proteins and TIMPS, and increases productions of MMPs (Barrientos et al., 2008).

#### 1.5.2 Re-epithelialization

Re-epithelialization is a critical process in re-establishing the barrier function of mucosa following wounding. Epithelial keratinocytes have been observed to begin migration from the wound edge to the provisional matrix within 24 hours of wounding. Their migration is dependent on a morphological change, from polarized basal cells to flattened and elongated cells. This change is initiated through their exposure to (1) pro-migratory matrix molecules in the wound

site (2) growth factors and cytokines that are released by inflammatory and other wound cells from the blood clot and surrounding extracellular matrix, and (3) wound generated electric fields (Schultz and Wysocki, 2009).

The basal epithelial cells of unwounded tissue are in close proximity to the extracellular matrix components of the basal membrane including laminin-111, laminin-332, and type IV collagen. A full thickness epithelial wound brings keratinocytes into contact with the extracellular environment which contains type I collagen and fibronectin-rich connective tissue and plasma derived proteins (Davis et al., 2000). Interestingly, mouse models with a knockout of laminin-332 produce a lethal phenotype and people with laminin-332 mutations have severely compromised wound healing ability (Schneider et al., 2007).

Integrins are a family of cell surface glycoproteins that function in a variety of ways. Much of their function is derived from variations in their two subunits  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , which are covalently associated with one another. Integrins mediate the attachment of a cell to the surrounding matrix. They also serve to convey two-way signaling across the plasma membrane, and influence cell growth, differentiation, and migration (Häkkinen et al., 2000; Jacobsen et al., 2010; Larjava et al., 2011). Animal studies have shown the importance of cellular signaling pathways mediated by integrins and growth factors. Re-epithelialization has been shown to be impaired by deficiencies in any of the following including extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK2), signal transducer and activation of transcription 3 (Stat 3), and Rac1 (DiPersio, 2007; Tscharntke et al., 2007; Sano et al., 2008; Satoh et al., 2009; Castilho et al., 2010).

Integrin  $\alpha$ 6 $\beta$ 4, which is a receptor for laminin-332 and a part of the hemisdesmosome is known to play a substantial role in re-epithelialization. The expression of this integrin seems necessary for the EGF-induced keratinocyte migration. Mouse models lacking the expression of integrin  $\alpha$ 6 $\beta$ 4 show markedly delayed re-epithelialization and reduced keratinocyte migration in skin (Russell et al., 2003; Nikolopoulos et al., 2005).

Existing keratinocyte integrins are affected by the presence of wound matrix proteins and combined with the influence of growth factors and cytokines, they can produce matrix receptors that are specific to wounds. This is most apparent with the three fibronectin receptor integrins  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 6 (Larjava et al., 1993; Larjava et al., 1996). Each of the above affects the process of re-epithelialization in different ways. The first,  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  promotes keratinocyte adhesion and motility and may also add to the increased proliferation of non-migratory keratinocytes behind the leading edge during wound healing through its interaction with EDA fibronectin (Zhang et al., 1995; Bata-Csorgo et al., 1998). ανβ1 is thought to support keratinocyte migration over the underlying fibronectin EDA via a low affinity fibronectin binding which enables cell attachment without decreasing the migration speed (Vogel et al., 1990; Zhang et al., 1993; Koivisto et al., 1999). The third-mentioned fibronectin receptor integrin,  $\alpha\nu\beta6$ , is expressed in the late stages of oral mucosal and skin wounds. Along with its substrates fibronectin EDA and tenascin-C,  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  integrin is positioned alongside the fibrin-fibronectin clot and as far as the tip of the migrating cell sheet (Haapasalmi et al., 1996; Häkkinen et al., 2000). Its peak expression takes place at the time of fusion between epithelial sheets (Larjava et al., 2011). It has been speculated that  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  integrin activates matrix-bound TGF- $\beta1$  and presents it to adjacent epithelial cells and/or fibroblasts (Larjava et al., 2011). This effectively results in the regulation

of keratinocyte proliferation, inflammation, and deposition of extracellular matrix. Integrin  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  seems essential to the keratinocyte proliferation at wound edges as shown by Singh et al. in knockout mice (Singh et al., 2009).

Integrins are expressed in cells other than keratinocytes and changes in this expression can both accelerate and delay wound re-epithelialization. For instance, the absence of integrin Mac-1 which signals neutrophils and monocytes delays skin wound re-epithelialization in knockout mice. Conversely, the elimination of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 which is expressed in wounds by platelets, endothelial cells, macrophages, and dermal fibroblasts, causes accelerated re-epithelialization (Reynolds et al., 2005; Sisco et al., 2007).

Integrins act as the main mediators of cell-extracellular matrix interaction, however there are a number of other keratinocyte cell surface adhesion receptors that can function alongside integrins and contribute to re-epithelialization. For instance, glycosaminoglycans, specifically epidermal hyaluronan, are expressed at the wound margins (Oksala et al., 1995) and cause keratinocyte proliferation and migration (Kaya et al., 1997). Transmembrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans syndecan-1 and -4 are expressed by keratinocytes in human oral mucosal wounds and are capable of facilitating keratinocyte attachment to unprocessed laminin-332 (Oksala et al., 1995; Gallo et al., 1996; Okamoto et al., 2003). Knockout mice in either syndecan-1 or -4 have not shown decreased keratinocyte migration during epithelialization, however those deficient in syndecan-1 have reduced keratinocyte proliferation (Echtermeyer et al., 2001; Stepp et al., 2002).

In addition to the pro-migratory matrix molecules that are stimulated through the action of integrins, cytokines and growth factors released by wound platelets in the clot are also important for re-epithelialization. The main growth factors that regulate re-epithelialization are from the EGF-family, TGF-β1 and KGF's (Davis et al., 2000).

Growth factor receptors such as EGF receptor (EGFR) can interact with extracellular matrix molecules via binding to the molecules' matrikine domains (Swindle et al., 2001; Tran et al., 2004). This facilitates keratinocyte migration. The EGF-like repeats of tenascin-C and laminin-332 bind to EGFR and favor migratory over proliferation pathways (Swindle et al., 2001; Haugh, 2002). EGFR is strongly upregulated in keratinocytes at the wound edges following tissue injury. This continues within the hypertrophic, proliferating zone of epithelium until the proliferative phase is completed (Stoscheck et al., 1992; Wenczak et al., 1992; Schelfhout et al., 2002).

The second-mentioned family of growth factors seen in wound healing is the TGF- $\beta$  group. TGF- $\beta$ 1 stimulates keratinocyte motility by changing the cells from a differentiating to a regenerative phenotype (Hashimoto, 2000). TGF- $\beta$ 1 function is complex and shows mixed results in animal models. Knockout mice have shown delayed wound repair as a result of increased inflammation (Brown et al., 1995) while the overexpression of TGF- $\beta$ 1 has been associated with severe inflammation in wounds (Wang et al., 2006).

Growth factors that mediate keratinocyte migration specifically include keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and insulin growth factor (IGF). They cause

changes in the organization of the cytoskeleton and cell shape (Putnins et al., 1999; Haase et al., 2003).

In order for re-epithelialization to occur, fibrinolysis of the clot ahead of the migrating keratinocytes must take place. Fibrinolysis depends of the activation of plasmin, which occurs via activators that bind to integrins on the keratinocyte cell surface (Vaalamo et al., 1996). Wound re-epithelialization has been observed to be nearly completely absent in mice that are deficient in both plasminogen and uPA/tPA (Romer et al., 1996; Carmeliet, 2003).

Keratinocytes express a number of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). MMPs are a family of about 25 zinc and calcium dependent, structurally related proteinases which are capable of breaking down components of the extracellular matrix as well as other molecules in wounds (Steffensen et al., 2001; Illman et al., 2008). While there are a large number of MMPs expressed in early wound healing, MMP-9 seems critical to re-epithelialization. Studies have shown delayed keratinocyte migration and dissolution of the fibrin clot in skin wounds of MMP-9 deficient mice (Kyriakides et al., 2009). Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are important regulators of MMP activity and work in concert with MMPs. Disruptions in the balance between MMPs and TIMPS are known to result in poor wound healing (Vaalamo et al., 1996; Salonurmi et al., 2004).

Additional modulators of wound re-epithelialization are divalent cations in the wound fluid. Keratinocytes are known to lose to their migratory phenotype when exposed to dialyzed wound fluid. Early wounds show elevated levels of  $Mg^{2+}$  and decreased levels of  $Ca^{2+}$  and this is known

to correlate with the period of epithelial migration. Increased  $Mg^{2+}$  is thought to enhance integrin function, whereas the decreased  $Ca^{2+}$  is thought to favor re-epithelialization via keratinocyte mitogenesis (Grzesiak and Pierschbacher, 1995).

Wound re-epithelialization is influenced by wound-induced electric fields. Mammalian cells have established transepithelial voltage differences, which are created by actively pumping Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> inwards, and Cl<sup>-</sup> outwards across the epithelium. Wounding causes a breakdown of this potential at the wound edges and results in a wound induced laterally oriented electrical field. The wound induced electrical field is known to direct epithelial cell migration and also cell division (Song et al., 2002; Song et al., 2004; Zhao, 2009).

### **1.5.3** Granulation tissue formation

The formation of new connective tissue begins 2-4 days after wounding and is driven mainly by fibroblasts, the principal cellular constituents of connective tissue. Fibroblasts exist in a plethora of phenotypes and can be defined as adherent cells that have the capacity to synthesize and remodel the collagen rich extracellular matrix (Darby and Hewitson, 2007; Sorrell and Caplan, 2009). In addition to fibroblasts, new connective tissue contains the existing blood clot components, new connective tissue ECM, and new and forming blood vessels and inflammatory cells (Clark et al., 1996; Gurtner et al., 2008; Larson et al., 2010).

Wounding results in signals that cause fibroblast proliferation, modulation of fibroblast adhesions to the extracellular matrix, and give directional cues that facilitate cell migration to the provisional wound matrix (Clark et al., 1996). While neutrophils constitute the majority of

leukocytes in the initial inflammatory stage of wound healing, there is a shift in predominant cell type that occurs around day 3 following wounding where macrophages, lymphocyte subsets, and mast cells begin to accumulate in greater numbers (Eming et al., 2007; Shiota et al., 2010). Wound keratinocytes secrete inflammatory mediators including chemokines, such as monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . The inflammatory cells that are recruited to the wound site release soluble growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines. There is also release of prostaglandins from damaged cells and these cause the activation and migration of connective tissue cells, into the wound (Werner and Grose, 2003; F Li et al., 2010).

Inflammatory cells also give rise to reactive oxygen species (ROS). In low concentrations, ROS are beneficial to the wound healing process by acting as signaling molecules and which regulate cell survival and gene expression (Novo and Parola, 2008). In addition to ROS, acute short-term hypoxia is known to have a number of beneficial effects on wound healing. It promotes angiogenesis, activates connective tissue cells, induces connective tissue cell and ECM proliferation, and stimulates growth factor release (Boraldi et al., 2007; Grayson et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2009). Other cells present in the tissue that are known to activate fibroblasts in wound healing include sensory and peripheral nerves. They influence the proliferation of fibroblasts via the release of neuropeptides (Roosterman et al., 2006; da Silva et al., 2010).

Hyaluronan production is increased within hours of wounding and it accumulates in the ECM. It functions to regulate the inflammatory response (Mack et al., 2012). In addition, hyaluronan regulates TGF-β mediated fibroblast proliferation in skin (Meran et al., 2011).

Another factor that may add to fibroblast activation and proliferation during the wound healing process is the destruction of gap junction communication between cells (Su et al., 1997). Connexin mediated gap junctions facilitate communication between fibroblasts and it is thought that this communication maintains cells in a quiescent state via cell-to-cell transfer of microRNAs in normal non-wounded tissue. Injury to the connective tissue results in a break in the communication that is mediated by gap junctions (Lim et al., 2011).

Connective tissue cells begin to migrate into the provisional matrix about 3 days after wounding. Compared to inflammatory cell migration, fibroblast migration is slow and moves about 0.5- $1.0\mu$ m/minute (Schneider and Haugh, 2006). Fibroblasts use integrins to facilitate their migration to the provisional matrix. In order to invade the wound site, cells require modification of their integrin expression. Cytokines, namely TGF- $\beta$  and PDGF affect the expression of these important integrins (Lin et al., 2005; van Beurden et al., 2005).

Fibroblast migration is also modulated by the expression of MMPs. Cell-surface associated, membrane type MMPs such as MMP-14 are expressed and affect the focalized ECM remodeling during cell migration. Other MMPs such as MT2-MMP and MT3-MMP are expressed when cells arrive at the wound site (Greiling and Clark, 1997; Hotary et al., 2002). In addition to MMPs, soluble mediators such as PDGF are active in granulation tissue formation. PDGF released by platelets and macrophages at the wound site causes PDGF-induced chemotaxis, which aids in the migration of fibroblasts. To assist further in fibroblast migration, proteases such as MMP-2, MMP-9, and plasmin cause release of latent growth factors such as TGF-β which facilitate fibroblast migration (Toriseva and Kähäri, 2009).

Cells are also capable of secreting new ECM proteins, such as a particular type of fibronectin, cellular extra domain A (EDA) – fibronectin. Fibronectin is required for cell migration and EDA-fibronectin supports integrin mediated cell adhesion and migration more effectively than plasma fibronectin (Singh et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2010).

Once in the provisional matrix, cells begin to proliferate again and start producing new granulation tissue ECM. This newly formed granulation tissue acts as a scaffold for subsequent connective tissue healing. The initially formed granulation tissue is highly cellular, unorganized, and structurally weak. The collagen deposition is very fast in the first 21 days after injury and then proceeds at a slower rate for a minimum of 90 days (Hering et al., 1983).

In addition to its role in fibroblast migration, EDA-fibronectin controls the deposition and organization of the extracellular matrix. It is capable of regulating fibroblast gene expression and participates in their differentiation into myofibroblasts (Serini et al., 1998; Leiss et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2010).

There are a large number of matricellular proteins present in the ECM during the later stages of granulation tissue formation. This includes SPARC (osteonectin), hevin, thrombospondin-1 and - 2, tenascin-C and –X, periostin, and the Cyr-CTGF-Nov-family (CCN-family) proteins (Chiodoni et al., 2010). These proteins act by modulating the cell-ECM interactions, binding and regulating the activity of cytokines and growth factors, and also possibly interacting with specific growth factor receptors made available by wound cells (Hamilton, 2008; Chiodoni et al., 2010).

Wound contraction is a process that approximates wound edges more closely to one another. It begins around 7 days after wounding and can account for up to 50% of the wound closure in humans. Wound contraction is facilitated mainly by myofibroblasts (Clark et al., 1996; Gurtner et al., 2008; Schultz et al., 2011) which behave like smooth muscle cells, expressing  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin (Hinz and Gabbiani, 2010). The gradual differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts is controlled by cell-ECM interactions, growth factors, and mechanosensory signals (Clark et al., 1996).

Remodeling is the transition of poorly organized granulation tissue ECM into mature connective tissue. Type I collagen replaces type III collagen. The collagen fibrils form into thicker bundles, are arranged perpendicularly to the wound edges, and start to form their typical cross linked arrangement. This is a slow process and animal studies have shown that the breaking strength of a wound at 21 days healing may only be 20% of the final strength, which can take months or years to be reached (Clark et al., 1996; Gurtner et al., 2008). There are a number of mechanisms that regulate ECM abundance and organization during remodeling.

One factor that aids in the regulation of ECM abundance and composition is the decreased number of inflammatory cells during the remodeling stage of wound healing. This results in a generalized reduced tissue cellularity. There are fewer pro-inflammatory signals in the wound and also increased expression of mediators that suppress inflammation such as lipoxins, resolvins, maresins, and IL-10 (Sato et al., 1999; Peranteau et al., 2008; Serhan, 2011). The ECM composition changes significantly during remodeling and an example of this is the accumulation of leucine-rich proteoglycans. These act to regulate collagen formation and also to down-regulate

pro-mitogenic TGF-β signaling which results in suppressed cell proliferation (Häkkinen et al., 2000; Iozzo and Schaefer, 2010). Mechanosensory signals also play a role in the regulation of cell proliferation. As the newly forming ECM reaches a similar stress-balance to its neighboring tissues, the mechanosensory input decreases in order to reduce cell proliferation and ECM deposition (Carlson and Thompson, 2004; Grinnell and Petroll, 2010; Provenzano and Keely, 2011; Schultz et al., 2011). Apoptosis of cells such as myofibroblasts and cells forming blood vessels adds to the reduced cellularity of the newly remodeling tissue (Desmoulière et al., 1997).

ECM degradation is affected by proteolytic degradation, a process driven by MMPs. This process results in a reduction of ECM abundance and also increases its subsequent reorganization (Gill and Parks, 2008; Toriseva and Kähäri, 2009). The expression of MMP's in fibroblasts is regulated by secreted cytokines and growth factors including IL-1 $\beta$ , PDGF, EGF, and TNF- $\alpha$ . MMPs are believed to be more critical during the inflammation stage of wound healing rather than the remodeling stage and in mouse models with multiple MMP knockout genes, there were no major changes observed in the later stages of wound healing. There was also no scar formation (Bullard et al., 1999; Hattori et al., 2009; Kyriakides et al., 2009; Mirastschijski et al., 2010). Numerous MMPs mediate the breakdown of type I and III collagen and therefore a change in the expression of these particular enzymes can impact wound healing. Hypertrophic scars and keloids have been found to have high levels of MMP-2 and low levels of MMP-9 (Neely et al., 1999). Similarly, a shift in the balance between MMP and TIMP expression may determine whether there is abnormal accumulation of ECM during wound healing (Gill and Parks, 2008; Toriseva and Kähäri, 2009).

In addition to proteolytic degradation of ECM during the remodeling stage of wound healing, many wound cells such as fibroblasts and macrophages contribute to the process through phagocytosis. Reduced numbers of fibroblasts and macrophages results in a reduction in their produced growth factors, pro-fibrotic TGF- $\beta$ 1 and TGF- $\beta$ 2. As mentioned previously, the remodeling stage of wound healing is accompanied by decreased cytokine production, and this causes even further reduction in the expression of TGF- $\beta$  (Levine et al., 1993; Gold et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1999; Beanes et al., 2003; Eslami et al., 2009).

#### 1.5.4 Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is a process driven by endothelial cells. New vascular formations are known to develop in 3 ways including sprouting from pre-existing vessels, new de novo formation of vessels through endothelial precursor cells (EPCs), and by the incorporation of circulating monocytes, which then differentiate into endothelial cells (Carmeliet, 2000; Carmeliet, 2003; Phelps and Garcia, 2009). Sprouting angiogenesis is controlled by growth factors, chemokines, and proteolytic enzymes. These factors modulate the sprouting process and also help to stabilize the newly formed microvasculature (Bicknell and Harris, 2004; Adams and Alitalo, 2007; Eming et al., 2007). At the wound site, monocytes differentiate into macrophages, important mediators in the process of angiogenesis.

Macrophages facilitate sprouting angiogenesis, introduce EPCs, and produce vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Pollard, 2009). Studies in mice have shown an improved wound healing response in diabetic mice when VEGF was applied topically to wounds and this is thought to be due to recruitment of EPCs to the wound site (Galiano et al., 2004). In addition to the above-mentioned actions, macrophages also produce metalloproteinases, which allow modification of the ECM, when needed, for the developing blood vessels. Examples of this are chymase and tryptase (both serine proteases), which are stored in mast cells and are capable of activating a succession of proteolytic enzymes that create space for new vessels to grow into (Lingen, 2001; Ribatti et al., 2009).

A number of other inflammatory cells also promote angiogenesis. Lymphocytes are present in chronic wounds and produce VEGF, bFGF and HGF; mediators which encourage angiogenesis. As well, mast cells contain a number of mediators for angiogenesis including VEGF, FGF-2, TNF- $\alpha$ , and TGF- $\beta$ . VEGF is the first known endothelial mediator of angiogenesis and much research has focused around it (Otrock et al., 2007; Nieves et al., 2009). There are six isoforms of VEGF and this is suggestive that VEGF has not only a role in the initiation of angiogenesis but also in maintaining the long-term stability and homeostasis of the vasculature (Elçin et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2007; Nieves et al., 2009). Studies have shown that VEGF production is strongly stimulated by hypoxia, a physiological occurrence in wound healing tissues with high metabolic demand (Li et al., 2009).

Neutrophils, key cells in inflammation, also have an important role in angiogenesis. They release proteolytic enzymes, which as mentioned above allow the formation of inroads in the ECM by new vessels. Pro-inflammatory mediators at the site of wounding, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , cause neutrophil breakdown. This releases stored VEGF as well as inflammatory chemokines such as CXCR1 and 8. The chemokines are then thought to stimulate endothelial cell proliferation, as this has been shown *in vitro* (Murdoch et al., 2008; Tazzyman et al., 2009).
New vessel formation involves interaction with the ECM and requires a number of ECM components including fibronectin, collagen, vitronectin, tenascin, and laminin (Feng et al., 1999; Li et al., 2003). Integrins, specifically  $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 3, are critical in wound angiogenesis. Studies have shown that  $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 1 is critical to VEGF mediated angiogenic signaling (Senger et al., 1997). Similarly, blocking the  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 3 receptor blocks angiogenesis (Christofidou-Solomidou et al., 1997). The inhibition of angiogenesis is an important factor in the wound healing process as the two processes; pro-angiogenic and inhibition of angiogenesis seem closely related. Endogenous inhibitors of angiogenesis are comprised mainly of proteins, or fragments of proteins, that are stored in the ECM and are released following activation of MMPs, cathepsins, or elastases (van Hinsbergh et al., 2006; Ribatti, 2009).

### **1.6 Scar formation**

Scars develop as a result of aberrations in physiologic wound healing. In general, they signify an imbalance between anabolic and catabolic phases of wound healing but more specifically, they represent a problem with one of the 4 key biological processes to wound healing; inflammatory response, TGF- $\beta$  activity, cell-ECM interaction, and fibroblast phenotype.

### **1.6.1** Inflammatory response

A prolonged inflammatory stage of wound healing is thought to be a significant contributor to scar formation. Immune cell infiltrate is present in scar tissue of keloids which may result in increased fibroblast activity with more and sustained ECM deposition (Brown and Bayat, 2009). Increased expression of IL-6 has been associated with increased scar formation, specifically in keloid formation (Xue et al., 2000).

In conjunction with the severity of inflammation, the type of immune response may also have a significant impact on the development of scars.  $CD4^+$  T cells are thought to be a major immunoregulator in wound healing and it may lead to either a TH1 or TH2 response depending on the cytokine expression profile. A predominantly TH2 response is associated with fibrogenesis while a predominantly TH1 CD4<sup>+</sup> expression has been shown to completely stop tissue fibrosis. This occurs as a result of IFN- $\Upsilon$  and IL-12 production (Wynn et al., 1995; Wynn et al., 1996).

# **1.6.2** TGF-β activity

TGF- $\beta$  plays a vital role in normal wound healing and is first released in large quantities from degranulating platelets at the wound site. TGF- $\beta$  consists of three isoforms and variations in the quantity and duration of their individual expression have been linked to hypertrophic scar and keloid formation. TGF- $\beta$ 1 and  $-\beta$ 2 are potent stimulators of collagen and proteoglycan synthesis. They cause not only apposition of ECM but also prevent its breakdown (Szulgit et al., 2002; Köse and Waseem, 2008). Increased expression of TGF- $\beta$ 1 has been strongly associated with prolonged myofibroblast differentiation, increased matrix accumulation, and subsequent scar formation. Studies of dermal wounds in rats have shown that injection of a neutralizing antibody to TGF- $\beta$ 1 and  $-\beta$ 2 into the wound margins results in healing without scar formation (Shah et al., 1992; Shah et al., 1995).

TGF-β3, which reduces connective tissue deposition during the later stages wound healing, seems to prevent myofibroblast differentiation and scarring (Ferguson and O'Kane, 2004; Waddington et al., 2010). There are, however conflicting results in the literature as some studies

have shown significantly reduced TGF- $\beta$ 3 mRNA expression in keloid fibroblasts when compared to fibroblasts obtained from hypertrophic scars or skin (Bock et al., 2005). The variability in these results may serve as further evidence that beyond week 1, it is not merely the presence of TGF- $\beta$ , its receptors and modulators, but more specifically the differential expression of each that affects hypertrophic scar and keloid formation (Gauglitz et al., 2011).

TGF-β activity is mediated by a specific group of intracellular signaling proteins, which are known together as the SMAD signal transduction pathway. The proteins are further classified as receptor-regulated SMADs (R-SMADs), common-mediator SMADs, and inhibitory SMADs. These proteins, when phosphorylated, are capable of regulating the transcription of specific genes. Two SMADs within the R-SMADS group, R-SMADs 3 and 4, have been shown to be the predominant mediators of autocrine stimulation by TGF-β in hypertrophic scar-derived fibroblasts (Kopp et al., 2005). Down-regulation of SMAD3 expression results in significantly less procollagen gene expression and reduced ECM production by keloid fibroblasts (Wang et al., 2007). SMAD7 applies negative feedback control over TGF-β1 (Okado et al., 2002). SMAD7 overexpression has been shown to have therapeutic benefits in the treatment of scar forming conditions such as post-obstructive renal fibrosis (Terada et al., 2002; Chen and Davidson, 2005).

## **1.6.3** Cell to ECM interaction

The ECM and its associated proteins play an essential role in wound healing and scar formation. One such example is the small proteoglycan decorin. Decorin is a leucine-rich molecule that binds collagen (Ameye and Young, 2002) and may suppress collagen phagocytosis by fibroblasts

during the remodeling stage of wound healing (Bhide et al., 2005). It is also capable of binding TGF- $\beta$ 1, which minimizes the stimulatory effects of TGF- $\beta$ 1 on collagen (Hildebrand et al., 1994). Decorin is decreased by as much as 75% in hypertrophic scars and this is thought to account for the unorganized collagen arrangement and increased ECM observed in hypertrophic scars (Sayani et al., 2000).

The differential expression of SPARC and hevin are also thought to modulate wound healing. SPARC and hevin are ECM proteins that regulate ECM deposition and organization during wound healing by suppressing cell migration. Increased expression of these proteins in mice has demonstrated reduced angiogenesis and scar formation (Bradshaw and Sage, 2001; Bradshaw et al., 2002; Barker et al., 2005; Sullivan et al., 2008).

Tenascin-C is an ECM protein produced at the wound edge and is believed to help recruit fibroblasts to the wound. While it is abundant in the wound at day 3, it drops off markedly by day 7. The exact action of tenascin-C is disputable as there are conflicting study results. Overexpression of tenascin-C shows has been associated with both keloid scars and scarless wound healing in human oral mucosa (Whitby et al., 1991; Sible et al., 1995; Chen et al., 2010).

A critical stage in the remodeling phase of wound healing is fibrillogenesis of collagen. This is the transformation of poorly organized, thin fibrils with few intermolecular cross-links into wellorganized, thicker fiber bundles with increased intermolecular cross-linking. Fibrillogenesis of type I collagen is mediated by fibroblasts. It is a process that requires fibronectin, type III and V collagen, and expression of fibronectin and collagen binding integrins (Liu et al., 1997; Kadler et al., 2008). However, excess cross-linking can contribute to scar formation. Levels of crosslinking enzymes are higher in scars and can stay at a high level for many months or years in established scars (van den Bogaerdt et al., 2009).

## **1.6.4** Fibroblast phenotype

Uninjured tissue contains fibroblasts in a quiescent state (Häkkinen et al., 2013) and while in this state, fibroblasts continue to synthesize, degrade, and organize the ECM (Lemons et al., 2010). However, their role is significantly altered upon injury as they are the key cell type responsible for ECM deposition and also for modulation of inflammation, re-epithelialization, and angiogenesis (Häkkinen et al., 2013). Normal connective tissue contains few myofibroblasts, however they are present in greater percentages in hypertrophic scars (Nedelec et al., 2001; Hinz and Gabbiani, 2010).

Hypertrophic scars are hypercellular, when compared to normal tissue, and show a gradual decrease in fibroblast cell density during the remodeling stage of wound healing. This decrease is cellularity is partly due to apoptosis of myofibroblasts (Armour et al., 2007). Apoptotic cells are known to promote the proliferation of mesenchymal progenitor cells (Li et al., 2010), and in the case of the oral palatal mucosa, this would include fibroblast progenitor cells.

## 1.7 Unique characteristics of oral wound healing

Oral wounds have been shown to heal faster and with less clinical and histological scar formation than similar skin wounds (Sciubba et al., 1978; Szpaderska et al., 2003; Szpaderska et al., 2005; Mak et al., 2009; Wong et al., 2009). The precise reasons behind these differences are unclear however they may be partly due to the differences in the pericellular ECM of oral mucosa and skin. The two structures show differences in sulfated glycosaminoglycans, heparan, chondroitin, dermatan and keratan sulfate, hyaluron, type III collagen, and tenascin-C (Pedlar, 1984; Bronson et al., 1988).

In addition to the above differences, phenotypical variations in the fibroblasts of oral mucosa and skin may also give rise to the differences in healing between these two tissues (Zhang et al., 2010). Fibroblasts isolated from the buccal mucosa and skin of the same patient exhibit a different gene expression profile (Okazaki et al., 2002). The varied behavior of the fibroblasts may be related to their embryonic origin as those in the skin originate from mesodermal mesenchymal cells while those in the oral mucosa are derived from neural crest cells (Breau et al., 2008).

Oral mucosal wounds are subjected to a milder inflammatory response than skin wounds with reduced recruitment of inflammatory cells such as neutrophils, mast cells, macrophages, and T-cells (Sciubba et al., 1978; Szpaderska et al., 2003; Mak et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2010). In the red Duroc pig model, it has been shown that oral mucosal wounds had significantly less mast cells than skin wounds at 60 days post wounding (Mak et al., 2009). As well, fewer T-lymphocytes at day 7 post-wounding has been found in the oral mucosal wounds of mice when compared to skin wounds (Szpaderska et al., 2003). As part of their overall decreased inflammatory response, oral wounds have decreased levels of cytokine expression including TGF- $\beta$ 1 and TNF- $\alpha$ . There is also an observed increase in the ratio of antifibrotic TGF- $\beta$ 3 relative to pro-fibrotic TGF- $\beta$ 1 in oral mucosal wounds compared to skin wounds (Schrementi et

al., 2008; Eslami et al., 2009). Lastly, oral wounds exist in the presence of saliva, which contains growth factors EGF, TFG- $\beta$  and IGF (Häkkinen et al., 2000; Loo et al., 2010). A lack of saliva has been shown to delay wound closure of oral wounds (Bodner et al., 1992). Some of the findings in oral wound healing are similar to those in fetal wound healing and thus a short divulgence into the topic shall follow.

# 1.8 Fetal wound healing

As discussed, the inflammatory response is a critical component in scar formation, and in situations where the inflammatory response is minimal or absent there is an associated decrease in scar formation. One such environment which lacks inflammatory cells such as neutrophils, macrophages, T-cells, and B-cells is the developing fetus (Armstrong and Ferguson, 1995). There are a number of factors that contribute to the decreased immune response observed in the fetus and one of these is an alteration in fetal platelets. Fetal platelets produce less PDGF, TGF- $\beta$ 1 and  $-\beta$ 2 and this results in less neutrophil and macrophage recruitment (Olutoye et al., 1996). In addition, fetal wounds have a decreased expression of TGF-β1, a pro-inflammatory cytokine, when compared to adult skin wounds (Cowin et al., 2001). The expression profile of other cytokines in fetal wounds is one that would seem to favor scarless healing as well. Proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 are reduced. Anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 has been shown to be critical to scarless healing. IL-10 deactivates macrophages and in fetal mice lacking IL-10, significant inflammation and scarring is observed (Liechty et al., 2000). Mast cells have also been implicated in increasing scarring as they are found in fewer numbers in wounds of younger embryonic age than those of increased age (Schwartzfarb and Kirsner, 2012).

As the decreased scar formation seen in the early stages of development could be thought to be due to the intrauterine environment itself, researchers have sought to show otherwise. Armstrong and Ferguson (1995) studied fetal marsupials and found that cutaneous wounds healed without scarring, despite the fetus's development in a pouch rather than in utero. Thus the ability of fetal wounds to heal without scars appears to be intrinsic and not just a result of the surrounding environment (Armstrong and Ferguson, 1995).

### 1.9 Wound healing of the cleft lip/ palate

The study of fetal wound healing is of particular relevance to cases of cleft lip and palate. Dentofacial defects are quite common, as the prevalence of cleft lip with or without cleft palate at birth varies from 3.4–22.9 per 10000 births (Zhu and Li, 2011). Scar formation following the repair of dentofacial defects such as cleft lip and/or palate is a significant negative factor associated with treatment. Scars impair function (i.e. tight lip), block growth (i.e. midface and dentoalveolar process), and can make the face esthetically unpleasant (Lorenz and Longaker, 2003; Zhu and Li, 2011). At 1 year after surgery, there is a reported prevalence of hypertrophic scar formation of 25% following cleft lip repair (Soltani et al., 2012). Using an animal model, researchers have shown scarless healing of the cleft lip/palate when treated in utero. As the mechanisms of fetal wound healing are more clearly understood, in utero repair of cleft lip/palate may become a viable alternative to post natal surgery with less scarring and a decreased need for secondary procedures which are common in this population (Lorenz and Longaker, 2003).

### 1.10 Methods of scar assessment

A reliable, valid, and clinically useful tool for scar assessment is an important component for the advancement of research in the impact of therapeutic modalities for scar management (Esselman et al., 2006). There is no standardized means for clinical scar assessment, however the modified Vancouver Scar Scale (mVSS), the Patient and Observer Scar Assessment Scale (POSAS), the Visual Analog Scale (VAS), and the Manchester Scar Scale (MSS) are commonly used tools. Visual scar analysis tools, such as the above-listed scales, are best used for small linear scars similar to those created in research. They are far less useful for assessing large scars and/or the functional aspects of scars (Fearmonti et al., 2010). Most methods of visual scar analysis produce a scar scale of categorical data where each category is assumed to be of equal importance (Duncan et al., 2006).

The Manchester scar scale was first described in 1998 in an effort to create a systematic rating scale for the assessment of scars using photographs. Beausang used it to score scars both clinically and from photograph panels (Beausang et al., 1998). The scale provides an overall scar score based on a 5-point clinical assessment including color, contour, surface (matte or shiny), distortion, texture. Each scar is also given a global assessment with the use of a visual analog scale. The MSS is more suited to linear scars that are not caused by burns than is the VSS (Duncan et al., 2006). In addition, the MSS uses descriptors that are related to clinical significance rather than physical measurement alone (Fearmonti et al., 2010).

An earlier study comparing the healing of palatal wounds with skin wounds using a modified MSS found a significantly higher score in the skin wounds from days 28 to 49 post wounding

(Wong et al., 2009). The histological findings supported the results obtained using the scar scale. In the palatal mucosa, from days 14 to 49, there was decreasing cellularity and the collagen appeared similar to that found in unwounded mucosa. In contrast, the skin wounds at this time point were still highly cellular, and had thin, loosely organized collagen fiber bundles that were arranged perpendicular to the wound edge. Not only was the modified MSS score significantly higher in skin than mucosa at day 49 after wounding, but so was the total histological scar assessment score (Wong et al., 2009).

There are varying results in the literature when it comes to assessing the correlation of scar scores that are obtained from a clinical exam compared to those obtained from a photographic assessment. Beausang reported an overall mean correlation coefficient (Spearman's) of 0.9 (range 0.85 to 0.95, p < 0001), but a recent study by Simons questions the level of agreement between clinical and photographic assessment of scars using any of MSS, mVSS, or POSAS (Simons et al., 2013).

# Chapter 2: Aim of the Study

Clinicians who have observed oral wounds to heal often anecdotally report that oral wounds in the human palate heal without scars. Based on limited human and animal studies reviewed above, the histological and molecular healing appears to reflect the clinicians' view with significant normalization of oral wounds in about two months after healing. There are, however, no long-term systematic studies describing scarring (or lack of it) after the two main types of clinical grafting procedures, namely free gingival grafts (FGG) and connective tissue graft (CTG).

Autogenous gingival grafts involve the detachment of gingiva from a donor site and transfer to a recipient bed. The posterior palate is frequently the donor site. The classic FGG harvest is described as a split thickness graft, removing only part of the lamina propria, and with an overall thickness of 0.75-1.25mm (HC Sullivan and Atkins, 1968). In comparison, a CTG typically requires a full thickness harvest (removing all of the lamina propria) (B Langer and L Langer, 1985). As shown in Figure 1, the CTG harvest creates a deeper wound than an FGG harvest.

The aim of the study was, therefore, to compare clinical scar formation after a minimum of six months of healing in CTG harvest sites (deep wounds) and FGG harvest sites (superficial wounds) of the human palatal mucosa.

# Hypothesis:

- 1. Palatal wounds in general show relatively little scarring
- 2. Deep wounds (CTG) produce more scarring than more superficial wounds (FGG)



Figure 1 Illustration of palatal tissue and FGG and CTG harvest thicknesses

# **Chapter 3: Materials and Methods**

This was a retrospective clinical study that was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Board of the University of British Columbia. A database search was completed which identified patients who had attended the UBC Graduate Periodontics Clinic and had at least one of either FGG or CTG procedure from August 1998 to August 2012. This search identified 165 candidates and an initial letter of contact was mailed to these candidates. 41 patients contacted the investigator and consented to participating in the study. They were seen in the UBC Graduate Periodontics Clinic for a single appointment, which entailed taking a series of intraoral photographs. Two patients were excluded because they had a history of each of FGG and CTG harvest from the same donor site on the palate. An additional two patients were excluded because the record of their graft donor site could not be found. Thus, in the end, 37 patients were enrolled in the study. Intraoral photographs of the palate were obtained for every patient. The photographs were taken with a single digital SLR camera with macro lens and ring flash. The camera settings were kept standard for each photograph. Two independent calibrated blinded examiners assessed the photographs using a modified version of the Manchester Scar Proforma (Table 1) (Mak et al., 2009). A value of zero, one, or two was given for each parameter, with no difference from normal tissue scored as zero, and gross mismatch scored as two. The values for each parameter were summed to produce a total scar score for each site. The component parameters were also examined individually so that color, contour, and distortion could be evaluated independently. The photographs were assembled into panels of nine containing a mix of FGGs and CTGs. Each photograph was centered upon the original surgical site, as determined by the patients' surgical photographs on record. The inter-examiner reliability was 98% and therefore it was decided to

use the results obtained from the first examiner only. Amongst the test sites, the examiners were also shown a total of 18 sites that had not previously been surgerized. Each of these sites scored zero in all three of color, contour, and distortion.

Parameters	0	1	2
Color	Perfect match with surrounding tissue	Slight mismatch	Obvious mismatch
Contour	Flush with surrounding tissue	Slightly proud or indented	Hypertrophic
Distortion	None	Moderate	Severe
Total Score	0-6		

Table 1 Modified Manchester Scar Proforma for clinical scar assessment; score range: 0-6; lower values

represent improved healing quality, i.e., less scar (Mak et al., 2009).

# **Chapter 4: Results**

## 4.1 Demographics

Of the 37 eligible study participants, 32% (n=12) were male and 68% (n=25) were female. The mean age was 55 years. The age distribution was broad (Figure 2) including two subjects ages 15-20 years, three subjects 21-35 years, seven subjects 36-50 years, 15 subjects 51-65 years, and 10 subjects 66-78 years.

Amongst these participants, there were a total of 23 FGGs and 23 CTGs assessed. Nine subjects had two sites assessed, which were located on opposite sides of the palate. Those patients who contributed two sites to the study were quite evenly distributed between the FGG and CTG groups. Three patients had two CTG sites, two patients had two FGG sites, and four patients had one of each CTG and FGG sites.

# 4.2 Scar formation and graft type

The modified MSS (score 0-6) was determined separately for the FGGs and CTGs. Figures 3-5 are examples of each component scar score (0-2) and the scars that were scored as such. As there were no scars in the sample that scored two for contour, there are no photographic examples of this value.

The FGG and CTG groups, and their overall modified MSS scores were compared first. In the FGG group, the scores were fairly narrowly distributed and two was the most frequently occurring score. Four sites (17.3%) scored zero, three sites (13.0%) scored one, eight sites

(34.8%) scored two, five sites (21.7%) scored three, three sites (13.0%) scored four, zero sites (0%) scored five, and also zero sites (0%) scored six (Figure 6). In the CTG group, the numbers were more evenly distributed. Three sites (13.0%) scored zero, six sites (26.1%) scored one, four sites (15.4%) scored two, six sites (26.1%) scored three, four sites (15.4%) scored four, zero sites (0%) scored six (Figure 6).

The individual components of the modified MSS score, including color, contour, and distortion, were examined separately for both FGGs and CTGs. The modified MSS score for color in the two groups was virtually even (Figure 7). The FGG group was as follows: n=8 (34.8%) scored zero, n=12 (52.2%) scored one, n=3 (13.0%) scored two. In comparison, the modified MSS component score for color in the CTG group was n=9 (39.1%) scored zero, n=10 (43.5%) scored one, n=4 (17.4%) scored two (Figure 7). The differences were not statistically significant as seen with Fisher's exact test, *p* 0.854.

Not unlike the results for color, the results for contour between the two groups were very similar. The modified MSS component score for contour in the FGG group was as follows: n=9 (39.1%) scored zero, n=14 (60.9%) scored one, n=0 (0%) scored two. In the CTG group, the component score for contour was n=7 (30.4%) scored zero, n=16 (69.6%) scored one, n=0 (0%) scored two (Figure 8). Once again, the differences were not statistically significant, *p* 0.758.

The third component of the modified MSS score, distortion, had the same score in each of the FGG and CTG group. For distortion n=10 (43.5%) scored zero, n=12 (52.2%) scored one, n=1 (0.04%) scored two (Figure 9).

Amongst the FGGs, 3/23 (13%) had an overall score zero while 4/23 (17%) of CTGs had an overall score zero.

### 4.3 Scar formation and age

Figure 10 is a comparison of the differences in scar formation amongst subjects who were aged 60 or less (n=26) and those more than 60 years (n=20). In the younger age group six subjects (23%) had an overall modified MSS score of zero. In contrast, the older group had just one subject (5%) with a score of zero (p 0.146). Figures 11, 12, and 13 illustrate that the difference between these two groups of younger and older subjects is due mainly to the distortion scores. Amongst the subjects aged 60 of less, 14 (54%) scored zero for distortion while just six (30%) of those aged more than 60 years scored zero (p 0.115).

### 4.4 Scar formation and elapsed time since wounding

Within the study population, there was a range of times from eight to 155 months between wounding and scar scoring. The mean time was 42 months. The scars were divided into three groups of elapsed times. These were defined as early (8-24 months), mid (25-60 months), and late (> 60 months). The number of subjects in each group were as follows: early = 22, mid = 15, and late = nine. The results of this comparison are shown in Figure 14. Within the early group, two subjects (9%) scored zero. In the mid group, two subjects (13%) scored zero, and in the late group, three subjects (33%) scored zero. Such, there was a greater proportion of subjects in the late group who scored zero than in the early and mid elapsed time groups.

Figures 15-17 show the modified MSS component scores. For color (Figure 15), the late elapsed time group had 6 scars (67%) score zero, while there were eight (36%) and three (20%) scars that

scored zero for the early and mid groups respectively. In reference to contour 17 (77%) of the early elapsed time group scored one, and just five (23%) scored zero (Figure 16). The mid group showed a similar trend, nine (60%) scored one and six (40%) scored zero. In comparison to the early and mid groups, the late group showed a reverse trend with four (44%) scoring one, and five (56%) scoring zero.

## 4.5 Scar formation and gender

The modified MSS component scores were compared between males and females. There were an unequal number of sites in these groups (females n=32, males n=14) and therefore the scores are expressed as both a raw score and a percentage of the total in the group.

For color, males had six (43%) score zero, six (43%) score one, and two (14%) score two. The numbers were very similar for females and as follows: 11 (34%) scored zero, 16 (50%) scored one, and five (16%) score two (Figure 18).

With respect to contour, males were evenly distributed between zero and one. Seven (50%) scored zero and seven (50%) scored one. Females, on the other hand scored mainly one, n=24 (75%). The remaining scars, n=9 (25%) scored zero (Figure 19).

The modified MSS component score for distortion was fairly similar between males and females with a p value nearing 1.0. Amongst males eight (57%) scored zero, five (36%) scored one, and one (0.07%) scored two. In females, 12 (38%) scored zero, eight (25%) scored one, and one (3%) scored two (Figure 20).

A sample of scars that were scored is presented in Figure 21. In addition to the scored photograph of each scar in Figure 21, there are surgical and post-operative photographs of each. They show a considerable amount of variation in surgical technique.

Figure 22 is also a sample of scars that were scored. Each scar in Figure 22 is shown alongside a pre-surgical, surgical, and post-operative photograph. The scars in this figure represent the significant variation in individual healing response that was observed.



Figure 2 Age of study population

Color



Figure 3 Sample of sites - color

Contour



Figure 4 Sample of sites – contour

Distortion



1



Figure 5 Sample of sites – distortion



Figure 6 A comparison of scar formation between FGG and CTG donor sites



Figure 7 A comparison of scar formation (color) between FGG and CTG donor sites. p 0.854



Figure 8 A comparison of scar formation (contour) between FGG and CTG donor sites. p 0.758



Figure 9 A comparison of scar formation (distortion) between FGG and CTG donor sites. p 1.000



Figure 10 A comparison of scar formation and subject age at time of wounding. p 0.146



Figure 11 A comparison of scar formation (color) and subject age at time of wounding. p 0.429



Figure 12 A comparison of scar formation (contour) and subject age at time of wounding. p 1.000



Figure 13 A comparison of scar formation (distortion) and subject age at time of wounding. p 0.115



Figure 14 A comparison of scar formation and elapsed time since wounding. p 0.130



Figure 15 A comparison of scar formation (color) and elapsed time since wounding. p 0.197



Figure 16 A comparison of scar formation (contour) and elapsed time since wounding. p 0.168



Figure 17 A comparison of scar formation (distortion) and elapsed time since wounding. p 0.976



Figure 18 A comparison of scar formation (color) between males and females. p 0.971







Figure 20 A comparison of scar formation (distortion) between females and males. p 0.999





day 1



day 8



day 14



5 yr 1 mos



day 1



day 7



day 15



1 yr 5 mos



day 1



















1 yr 2 mos

Figure 21 Variation in surgical technique amongst FGG (F1 and F2) and CTG (C1 and C2) sites.

# Example A











3 yr 10 mos

pre-operative

Example B



pre-operative

Example C



pre-operative





day 12

day 8



day 23





day 55







Figure 22 Variation in healing response amongst FGG (examples A and B) and CTG (examples C and D) sites

# **Chapter 5: Discussion**

The impression by clinicians is that the palatal mucosa heals virtually without scars. However, this has not been quantified previously. The mechanism of scar formation in the human palatal mucosa is poorly understood, and it was hypothesized that there is increased scar formation of the palatal mucosa following a CTG harvest (deep wound) than a FGG harvest (superficial wound). The results of this study demonstrated that scar formation in CTG harvest sites is not greater than that of FGG sites. These results were contrary to what was expected, but similar to other reports of scarless healing in the palatal mucosa (Wong et al., 2009). While there were some sites with scarless healing (FGG 17%, CTG 13%), the majority of sites exhibited minor scar formation. This study found that scar formation was independent of harvest type and gender. However, there were weak positive correlations between younger age at time of wounding and scarless healing, as well as an increased elapsed time since wounding and scarless healing.

There are very few studies that compare the type of scar formation in the palatal mucosa to the depth of wounding, and this study is one of the first in the field. A critical depth of wounding to induce scar formation is not known (Dunkin et al., 2007). There is some evidence to support the notion that dermal wounds extending beyond the superficial papillary dermis, and into the reticular dermis, result in scarring (Dunkin et al., 2007). An earlier study (Wong et al., 2009) reported scarless healing of the human palatal mucosa. However, upon further review of the study results it was noted that the investigator had found minimal scar formation and not true scarless healing. In the referenced study, subjects had standardized full thickness excisional wounds from the palate that were approximately 12mm long and 2mm wide. The modified MSS

score was reported as a mean value of  $0.8 \pm 0.2$  from the healed sites. Mean scores were not chosen as the most accurate method to report the findings of this study, however it can be noted that the mode modified MSS score in this study was 2 (Figure 6). There was a definite increased score observed in the current study in comparison to Wong's and this may be due to the generally larger size of the wounds in the current study. While they were not of standardized size, it can be observed from the photographs on Day 1 that most wounds in the current study were greater than 12mm in length. This assumption can be made based on the knowledge that the mesial distal width of a typical maxillary molar is 10.5 mm (Fekonja, 2013) and most of the incisions were far larger than the width of a single molar. A follow-up to Wong's study, using a similar design, was undertaken (Mak, 2009). Palatal mucosal wounds were created in red Duroc pigs, but with a much larger wound area; 27mm long and 15mm wide. Despite the larger wounds, the modified MSS mean score in Mak's follow-up study was  $1 \pm 0.2$ . It is noteworthy that Mak's study was carried out in pigs and while pigs are a very good model for wound healing, they have some dissimilar skin characteristics from humans (Sullivan et al., 2001). For example, pig skin has a less developed subepidermal plexus, which supplies adenexal structures (Forbes, 1969).

The virtually scarless healing observed in this study is likely the result of various differences between the palatal mucosa and skin. As mentioned earlier, the palatal mucosa contains fibroblasts derived from neural crest cells (Breau et al., 2008). The phenotype of oral mucosal fibroblasts is similar to that of fetal-type fibroblasts, which enable scarless healing in fetal skin (Enoch et al., 2010). Therefore, it is possible that the palatal mucosa heals in a fetal-like way as a result of its fibroblast composition.
Oral mucosa has a different composition of pericellular ECM than does skin. There is increased hyaluronan and tenascin-C in the oral mucosa. Hyaluronan is thought to play a role in reduction of scar formation by indirectly increasing the production of type III collagen and TGF- $\beta$ 3 (Raoudi and Tranchepain, 2008).

In addition, the inflammatory response observed in oral wounds is milder when compared to that in skin. There are fewer neutrophils, mast cells, macrophages, and T-cells in the inflammatory response within the oral mucosa, and subsequently less cytokine expression (Szpaderska et al., 2003). This allows faster re-epithelialization of the oral mucosa following wounding. It has been found that the basal expression of many genes that affect wound healing is higher even in unwounded oral mucosa compared to skin (Chen et al., 2010). This would imply that the cells of the oral mucosa are actually primed for quicker healing response. There is speculation that fast wound healing in both the skin and mucosa is an evolutionary advantage that has been naturally selected for over time (Ferguson and O'Kane, 2004). The presence of saliva that contains growth factors EGF, TFG- $\beta$  and IGF (Häkkinen et al., 2000; Loo et al., 2010) is yet another reason why oral palatal mucosa heals with minimal scar formation.

This study was retrospective in design and that proved to be a limitation. There was a significant variation in surgery techniques within the two groups (FGG and CTG). In reference to Figure 21, F1 and F2 show FGG harvest sites. F1 is a relatively invasive harvest technique and heals with scarring and an overall modified MSS score of four. The scar is lighter in color compared to the surrounding tissue (score one), proud (score one), and severely distorted (score two). In comparison, F2 is a more superficial harvest and heals with just a slight color mismatch (score

one) and therefore an overall modified MSS score of one. In an attempt to determine a critical depth of wounding, it would be difficult to extrapolate findings from one individual to another as a similar depth wound in one person may penetrate to a deeper level of the mucosa than in another. The thickness of the palatal mucosa in humans is highly variable and may range from 1.8 to 5.6mm (Kim et al., 2013).

In Figure 21, C1 and C2 are CTG sites with a similar harvest technique as evident from the photographs on Day one. They show remarkably different healing at days seven and eight respectively, however the final scar formation is surprisingly similar. C1 has a small change in contour, being slightly proud (score one). C2 has a lighter color (score one), is slightly indented (score one), and also shows distortion, especially evident in the rugae (score one).

In addition to variation in surgical technique, there was also variation in individual healing response amongst individuals. In Figure 22, examples A and B show deep FGG harvest sites from two different subjects. Example A healed with scarring and changes in color (score two), contour (score one), and distortion (score one). On the other hand, example B healed with scarring, but only a change in color (score one). The site is flush with the surrounding tissue and shows no distortion.

In Figure 22, examples C and D are from the same subject, opposite sides of the palate. Note that the photographs in the study are all displayed as left side in order to improve standardization. This individual had two CTG harvests, which resulted in similar healing outcomes. Example C healed with no scar formation whereas example D shows no change in color (score zero) but is

63

slightly proud (score one) and has some distortion in the rugae area (score one). This individual's degree of scar formation was similar at both sites.

Patient age at time of surgery, and the resultant scarring, was compared between a younger and older age group. There was a trend towards increased likelihood of scarless healing (modified MSS score zero) amongst subjects in the younger age category, aged 60 or less. The results of this study are somewhat confounding. While there is scientific evidence to indicate delayed healing in healthy older adults, this is thought to be a temporal delay and not a true impairment of the wound healing process (Keylock et al., 2008). This delay in healing in the aged population is thought to be the result of an altered inflammatory response consisting of delayed T-cell infiltration, altered chemokine expression, and reduced macrophage activity (Swift et al., 2001).

As mentioned earlier, there was also a slight correlation noted between longer elapsed time since wounding (i.e. greater than five years) and scarless healing. As all of the wounds scored in this study were more than seven months post wounding, and were therefore in the remodeling phase of wound healing. At this stage of wound healing, new ECM molecules are being formed as the poorly organized, collagen rich ECM formed during granulation tissue formation is broken down and/or remodeled (Singer and Clark, 1999). Proteolytic degradation mediated by MMPs was originally thought to be the main modifier of ECM reorganization (Toriseva and Kähäri, 2009), however it is now known to be influenced by wound cells such as macrophages and fibroblasts (Dieck and Codriansky, 2009), and even ECM molecules like decorin (Honardoust et al., 2008). While the timeline for this remodeling is not precisely quantified, it would seem from the results of this study that remodeling in scars may continue even after extended healing times.

64

The selected tools for the assessment of scars in this study, the modified MSS, was not without challenges. The scale was a useful tool for scar assessment, and while noted as one of the better scar scales for small scars (Fearmonti et al., 2010), it was still not ideal for the assessment of sites with minimal scarring. The scale has just three possible values for each parameter and for contour, a value of two was not observed. This would indicate a site with hypertrophic scarring and there were no sites that showed this. It is possible, that more subtle changes in contour were not accounted for because of the rather broad categories within the modified MSS.

The broad categories within the modified MSS made it easy to use and likely contributed to the 98% agreement between evaluators. As many of the scars were small, they were more easily appreciated and compared in an enlarged photograph than in the clinical setting. Figures 3, 4, and 5 are examples of each parameter with photographs from the study of scars of each value. Identifying color change was sometimes difficult from the photographs as there was reflection on the tissue from the flash, however both contour and distortion were easily discernible from the photographs. The accuracy of a clinical scar scale being applied to photographs has been questioned (Simons et al., 2013), but as there is currently no standardized scar scale, the modified MSS seems well-suited for this purpose.

## **Chapter 6: Conclusion and Future Directions**

Clinical healing occurred with scar formation in the palatal mucosa of the majority of the individuals in this study. The donor side morbidity was minimal for both types of grafts, FGGs and CTGs and while the scarring was minimal, it was not scarless. The palatal gingiva appears to heal via repair and not regeneration. Individual variation seems to dictate the outcome of palatal scar formation more than any other known factor.

A prospective study with a larger sample size would be a valuable tool in the assessment of scar formation in palatal mucosa. Wounds of a standardized size and depth with accompanying histologic analysis would help to correlate depth of wound (millimeters) with anatomical depth (tissue type). Measuring the palatal mucosa thickness of each subject prior to the graft harvest and also following healing would also be valuable information.

A broader understanding of the wound healing process in human palatal mucosa may prove beneficial in the development of treatment strategies. This increased knowledge may affect both the timing of treatment (i.e. embryonic surgery) and also the modality of treatment. Specific modalities may involve mesenchymal stem cells from gingiva for transfer to other areas of the body, such as the skin, for use as a treatment modality to reduce scarring (Fournier et al., 2013).

## **Bibliography**

Adams RH, Alitalo K (2007). Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8:464–478.

Alberio L, Friese P, Clemetson KJ, Dale GL (2002). Collagen response and glycoprotein VI function decline progressively as canine platelets age in vivo. *Thromb. Haemost.* 88:510–516.

Ameye L, Young MF (2002). Mice deficient in small leucine-rich proteoglycans: novel in vivo models for osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, muscular dystrophy, and corneal diseases. *Glycobiology*. 12(9):107R-116R.

Armour A, Scott PG, Tredget EE (2007). Cellular and molecular pathology of HTS: basis for treatment. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 15 Suppl 1:S6–17.

Armstrong JR, Ferguson MW (1995). Ontogeny of the skin and the transition from scar-free to scarring phenotype during wound healing in the pouch young of a marsupial, Monodelphis domestica. *Dev. Biol.* 169:242–260.

Barker T, Framson P, Puolakkainen P, Reed M, Funk S, Sage E (2005). Matricellular homologs in the foreign body response: hevin suppresses inflammation, but hevin and SPARC together diminish angiogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 166:923–933.

Barrientos S, Stojadinovic O, Golinko MS, Brem H, Tomic-Canic M (2008). Growth factors and cytokines in wound healing. *Wound Repair Regen* 16:585–601.

Bartold PM, Walsh LJ, Narayanan AS (2000). Molecular and cell biology of the gingiva. *Periodontol. 2000* 24:28–55.

Bata-Csorgo Z, Cooper KD, Ting KM, Voorhees JJ, Hammerberg C (1998). Fibronectin and alpha5 integrin regulate keratinocyte cell cycling. A mechanism for increased fibronectin potentiation of T cell lymphokine-driven keratinocyte hyperproliferation in psoriasis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 101:1509–1518.

Beanes SR, Dang C, Soo C, Ting K (2003). Skin repair and scar formation: the central role of TGF-beta. *Expert Rev Mol Med* 5:1–22.

Beausang E, Floyd H, Dunn KW, Orton CI, Ferguson MW (1998). A new quantitative scale for clinical scar assessment. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 102:1954–1961.

Bhide VM, Laschinger CA, Arora PD, Lee W, Häkkinen L, Larjava H, et al. (2005). Collagen phagocytosis by fibroblasts is regulated by decorin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280:23103–23113.

Bicknell R, Harris AL (2004). Novel angiogenic signaling pathways and vascular targets. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 44:219–238.

Bilodeau ML, Hamm HE (2007). Regulation of protease-activated receptor (PAR) 1 and PAR4 signaling in human platelets by compartmentalized cyclic nucleotide actions. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 322:778–788.

Bock O, Yu H, Zitron S, Bayat A, Ferguson MWJ, Mrowietz U (2005). Studies of transforming growth factors beta 1-3 and their receptors I and II in fibroblast of keloids and hypertrophic scars. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 85:216–220.

Bodner L, Dayan D, Oberman M (1992). Healing of experimental wounds in sialadenectomized rat. *J Clin Periodontol*. 19(5):345-347.

Boraldi F, Annovi G, Carraro F, Naldini A, Tiozzo R, Sommer P, et al. (2007). Hypoxia influences the cellular cross-talk of human dermal fibroblasts. A proteomic approach. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1774:1402–1413.

Bradshaw AD, Reed MJ, Sage E (2002). SPARC-null mice exhibit accelerated cutaneous wound closure. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 50:1–10.

Bradshaw AD, Sage EH (2001). SPARC, a matricellular protein that functions in cellular differentiation and tissue response to injury. *J. Clin. Invest.* 107:1049–1054.

Breau MA, Pietri T, Stemmler MP, Thiery JP, Weston JA (2008). A nonneural epithelial domain of embryonic cranial neural folds gives rise to ectomesenchyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105:7750–7755.

Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. (2004). Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* 303:1532–1535.

Bronson RE, Argenta JG, Siebert EP, Bertolami CN (1988). Distinctive fibroblastic subpopulations in skin and oral mucosa demonstrated by differences in glycosaminoglycan content. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.* 24:1121–1126.

Broughton G, Janis JE, Attinger CE (2006a). The basic science of wound healing. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 117:12S–34S.

Broughton G, Janis JE, Attinger CE (2006b). Wound healing: an overview. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 117:1e–S–32e–S.

Brown J, Bayat A (2009). Genetic susceptibility to raised dermal scarring. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 161:8–18.

Brown R, Ormsby I, Doetschman TC, Greenhalgh DG (1995). Wound healing in the transforming growth factor-beta-deficient mouse. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 3:25–36.

Bullard KM, Lund L, Mudgett JS, Mellin TN, Hunt TK, Murphy B, et al. (1999). Impaired wound contraction in stromelysin-1-deficient mice. *Ann. Surg.* 230:260–265.

Carlson MA, Thompson JS (2004). Wound splinting modulates granulation tissue proliferation. *Matrix Biol.* 23:243–250.

Carmeliet P (2003). Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nat. Med. 9:653-660.

Carmeliet P (2000). Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nat. Med. 6:389-395.

Castilho RM, Squarize CH, Leelahavanichkul K, Zheng Y, Bugge T, Gutkind JS (2010). Rac1 is required for epithelial stem cell function during dermal and oral mucosal wound healing but not for tissue homeostasis in mice. *PLoS ONE* 5(5):e10503.

Chen J, Joon Lee H, Jakovcevski I, Shah R, Bhagat N, Loers G, et al. (2010). The extracellular matrix glycoprotein tenascin-C is beneficial for spinal cord regeneration. *Mol. Ther.* 18:1769–1777.

Chen L, Arbieva Z, Guo S, Marucha P, Mustoe T, DiPietro L (2010). Positional differences in the wound transcriptome of skin and oral mucosa. *BMC Genomics* 11:471.

Chen M, Davidson T (2005). Scar management: prevention and treatment strategies. *Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 13:242–247.

Chiodoni C, Colombo MP, Sangaletti S (2010). Matricellular proteins: from homeostasis to inflammation, cancer, and metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 29:295–307.

Christofidou-Solomidou M, Bridges M, Murphy GF, Albelda SM, DeLisser HM (1997). Expression and function of endothelial cell alpha v integrin receptors in wound-induced human angiogenesis in human skin/SCID mice chimeras. *Am. J. Pathol.* 151:975–983.

Clark RA, Tonnesen MG, Gailit J, Cheresh DA (1996). Transient functional expression of alphaVbeta 3 on vascular cells during wound repair. *Am. J. Pathol.* 148:1407–1421.

Cowin AJ, Holmes TM, Brosnan P, Ferguson MW (2001). Expression of TGF-beta and its receptors in murine fetal and adult dermal wounds. *Eur J Dermatol* 11:424–431.

da Silva L, Carvalho E, Cruz MT (2010). Role of neuropeptides in skin inflammation and its involvement in diabetic wound healing. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 10:1427–1439.

Dale GL (2005). Coated-platelets: an emerging component of the procoagulant response. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 3:2185–2192.

Danon D, Kowatch MA, Roth GS (1989). Promotion of wound repair in old mice by local injection of macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86:2018–2020.

Darby IA, Hewitson TD (2007). Fibroblast differentiation in wound healing and fibrosis. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 257:143–179.

Davis GE, Bayless KJ, Davis MJ, Meininger GA (2000). Regulation of tissue injury responses by the exposure of matricryptic sites within extracellular matrix molecules. *Am. J. Pathol.* 156:1489–1498.

Desmoulière A, Badid C, Bochaton-Piallat ML, Gabbiani G (1997). Apoptosis during wound healing, fibrocontractive diseases and vascular wall injury. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 29:19–30.

Dieck MQ, Codriansky K (2009). Expression and regulation of cathepsin K in skin fibroblasts. *Exp Dermatol.* 18(7):596-602.

DiPersio CM (2007). Double duty for Rac1 in epidermal wound healing. Sci. STKE 2007:pe33.

Dovi JV, He L-K, DiPietro L (2003). Accelerated wound closure in neutrophil-depleted mice. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 73:448–455.

Duncan JAL, Bond JS, Mason T, Ludlow A, Cridland P, O'Kane S, et al. (2006). Visual analogue scale scoring and ranking: a suitable and sensitive method for assessing scar quality? *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 118:909–918.

Dunkin CSJ, Pleat JM, Gillespie PH, Tyler MPH, Roberts AHN, McGrouther DA (2007). Scarring occurs at a critical depth of skin injury: precise measurement in a graduated dermal scratch in human volunteers. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 119:1722–32– discussion 1733–1734.

Durani P, Occleston N, O'Kane S, Ferguson MWJ (2008). Avotermin: a novel antiscarring agent. *Int J Low Extrem Wounds* 7:160–168.

Echtermeyer F, Streit M, Wilcox-Adelman S, Saoncella S, Denhez F, Detmar M, et al. (2001). Delayed wound repair and impaired angiogenesis in mice lacking syndecan-4. *J. Clin. Invest.* 107:R9–R14.

Elçin YM, Dixit V, Gitnick G (2001). Extensive in vivo angiogenesis following controlled release of human vascular endothelial cell growth factor: implications for tissue engineering and wound healing. *Artif Organs* 25:558–565.

Eming SA, Brachvogel B, Odorisio T, Koch M (2007). Regulation of angiogenesis: wound healing as a model. *Prog Histochem Cytochem* 42:115–170.

Enoch S, Peake MA, Wall I, Davies L, Farrier J, Giles P, et al. (2010). "Young" oral fibroblasts are geno/phenotypically distinct. *Journal of Dental Research* 89:1407–1413.

Eslami A, Gallant-Behm CL, Hart DA, Wiebe C, Honardoust D, Gardner H, et al. (2009). Expression of Integrin alpha v beta 6 and TGF-beta in Scarless vs Scar-forming Wound Healing. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 57:543–557.

Esselman PC, Thombs BD, Magyar-Russell G, Fauerbach JA (2006). Burn rehabilitation: state of the science. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 85:383–413.

Fearmonti R, Bond J, Erdmann D, Levinson H (2010). A review of scar scales and scar measuring devices. *Eplasty* 10:e43.

Fekonja A (2013). Comparison of mesiodistal crown dimension and arch width in subjects with and without hypodontia. *J Esthet Restor Dent* 25:203–210.

Feng X, Clark RA, Galanakis D, Tonnesen MG (1999). Fibrin and collagen differentially regulate human dermal microvascular endothelial cell integrins: stabilization of alphav/beta3 mRNA by fibrin1. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 113:913–919.

Ferguson MWJ, O'Kane S (2004). Scar-free healing: from embryonic mechanisms to adult therapeutic intervention. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci.* 359:839–850.

Forbes PD (1969). Vascular supply of the skin and hair in swine. In *Advances in the biology of skin: Hair growth. Vol 9.* Montagna and Dobson, editors. Oxford: Pergamon, pp. 419–32.

Fournier BPJ, Larjava H, Häkkinen L (2013). Gingiva as a Source of Stem Cells with Therapeutic Potential. *Stem Cells Dev.* [Epub ahead of print].

Galiano RD, Tepper OM, Pelo CR, Bhatt KA, Callaghan M, Bastidas N, et al. (2004). Topical vascular endothelial growth factor accelerates diabetic wound healing through increased angiogenesis and by mobilizing and recruiting bone marrow-derived cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 164:1935–1947.

Gallo R, Kim C, Kokenyesi R, Adzick NS, Bernfield M (1996). Syndecans-1 and -4 are induced during wound repair of neonatal but not fetal skin. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 107:676–683.

Gallucci RM, Simeonova PP, Matheson JM, Kommineni C, Guriel JL, Sugawara T, et al. (2000). Impaired cutaneous wound healing in interleukin-6-deficient and immunosuppressed mice. *FASEB J.* 14:2525–2531.

Gallucci RM, Sloan DK, Heck JM, Murray AR, O'Dell SJ (2004). Interleukin 6 indirectly induces keratinocyte migration. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 122:764–772.

Garant PR (2003). Oral cells and tissues. Quintessence Pub Co.

Gartner LP (1994). Oral anatomy and tissue types. Semin Dermatol 13:68-73.

Gauglitz GG, Korting HC, Pavicic T, Ruzicka T, Jeschke MG (2011). Hypertrophic scarring and keloids: pathomechanisms and current and emerging treatment strategies. *Mol. Med.* 17:113–125.

Ghohestani RF, Li K, Rousselle P, Uitto J (2001). Molecular organization of the cutaneous basement membrane zone. *Clin. Dermatol.* 19:551–562.

Gill SE, Parks WC (2008). Metalloproteinases and their inhibitors: regulators of wound healing. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 40:1334–1347.

Gold LI, Sung JJ, Siebert JW, Longaker MT (1997). Type I (RI) and type II (RII) receptors for transforming growth factor-beta isoforms are expressed subsequent to transforming growth factor-beta ligands during excisional wound repair. *Am. J. Pathol.* 150:209–222.

Grayson WL, Zhao F, Bunnell B, Ma T (2007). Hypoxia enhances proliferation and tissue formation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 358:948–953.

Greiling D, Clark RA (1997). Fibronectin provides a conduit for fibroblast transmigration from collagenous stroma into fibrin clot provisional matrix. *J. Cell. Sci.* 110 (Pt 7):861–870.

Grinnell F, Petroll WM (2010). Cell motility and mechanics in three-dimensional collagen matrices. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 26:335–361.

Grzesiak JJ, Pierschbacher MD (1995). Changes in the concentrations of extracellular Mg++ and Ca++ down-regulate E-cadherin and up-regulate alpha 2 beta 1 integrin function, activating keratinocyte migration on type I collagen. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 104:768–774.

Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT (2008). Wound repair and regeneration. *Nature* 453:314–321.

Haapasalmi K, Zhang K, Tonnesen M, Olerud J, Sheppard D, Salo T, et al. (1996). Keratinocytes in human wounds express alpha v beta 6 integrin. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 106:42–48.

Haase I, Evans R, Pofahl R, Watt FM (2003). Regulation of keratinocyte shape, migration and wound epithelialization by IGF-1- and EGF-dependent signalling pathways. *J. Cell. Sci.* 116:3227–3238.

Hamilton DW (2008). Functional role of periostin in development and wound repair: implications for connective tissue disease. *J Cell Commun Signal* 2:9–17.

Hashimoto K (2000). Regulation of keratinocyte function by growth factors. *Journal of Dermatological Science* 24 Suppl 1:S46–50.

Hattori N, Mochizuki S, Kishi K, Nakajima T, Takaishi H, D'Armiento J, et al. (2009). MMP-13 plays a role in keratinocyte migration, angiogenesis, and contraction in mouse skin wound healing. *Am. J. Pathol.* 175:533–546.

Haugh JM (2002). Localization of receptor-mediated signal transduction pathways: the inside story. *Mol. Interv.* 2:292–307.

Häkkinen L, Hildebrand H, Berndt A, Kosmehl H, Larjava H (2000). Immunolocalization of tenascin-C, alpha9 integrin subunit, and alphavbeta6 integrin during wound healing in human oral mucosa. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 48:985–998.

Häkkinen L, Larjava H, Koivisto L (2013). Granulation Tissue Formation and Remodeling. In *Oral Wound Healing*. Larjava editor. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., pp. 125–173.

Häkkinen L, Strassburger S, Kähäri V, Scott P, Eichstetter I, Lozzo R, et al. (2000). A role for decorin in the structural organization of periodontal ligament. *Lab. Invest.* 80:1869–1880.

Häkkinen L, Uitto V, Larjava H (2000). Cell biology of gingival wound healing. *Periodontol.* 2000 24:127–152.

Hering TM, Marchant RE, Anderson JM (1983). Type V collagen during granulation tissue development. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 39:219–229.

Hildebrand A, Romaris M, Rasmussen LM (1994). Interaction of the small interstitial proteoglycans biglycan, decorin and fibromodulin with transforming growth factor beta. *Biochem J.* 302 (Pt 2):527-534.

Hinz B, Gabbiani G (2010). Fibrosis: recent advances in myofibroblast biology and new therapeutic perspectives. *F1000 Biol Rep* 2:78.

Hoffman M, Monroe DM (2007). Coagulation 2006: a modern view of hemostasis. *Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am.* 21:1–11.

Honardoust D, Eslami A, Larjava H, Häkkinen L (2008). Localization of small leucine-rich proteoglycans and transforming growth factor-beta in human oral mucosal wound healing. *Wound Repair Regen* 16:814–823.

Hotary KB, Yana I, Sabeh F, Li X-Y, Holmbeck K, Birkedal-Hansen H, et al. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) regulate fibrin-invasive activity via MT1-MMP-dependent and - independent processes. *J. Exp. Med.* 195:295–308.

Illman SA, Lohi J, Keski-Oja J (2008). Epilysin (MMP-28)--structure, expression and potential functions. *Exp. Dermatol.* 17:897–907.

Iozzo RV, Schaefer L (2010). Proteoglycans in health and disease: novel regulatory signaling mechanisms evoked by the small leucine-rich proteoglycans. *FEBS J.* 277:3864–3875.

Italiano JE, Richardson JL, Patel-Hett S, Battinelli E, Zaslavsky A, Short S, et al. (2008). Angiogenesis is regulated by a novel mechanism: pro- and antiangiogenic proteins are organized into separate platelet alpha granules and differentially released. *Blood* 111:1227–1233.

Ito M, Cotsarelis G (2008). Is the hair follicle necessary for normal wound healing? *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 128:1059–1061.

Jacobsen JN, Steffensen B, Häkkinen L, Krogfelt KA, Larjava HS (2010). Skin wound healing in diabetic  $\beta$ 6 integrin-deficient mice. *APMIS* 118:753–764.

Jameson J, Havran WL (2007). Skin gammadelta T-cell functions in homeostasis and wound healing. *Immunol. Rev.* 215:114–122.

Kadler KE, Hill A, Canty-Laird EG (2008). Collagen fibrillogenesis: fibronectin, integrins, and minor collagens as organizers and nucleators. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 20:495–501.

Kaya G, Rodriguez I, Jorcano JL, Vassalli P, Stamenkovic I (1997). Selective suppression of CD44 in keratinocytes of mice bearing an antisense CD44 transgene driven by a tissue-specific promoter disrupts hyaluronate metabolism in the skin and impairs keratinocyte proliferation. *Genes Dev.* 11:996–1007.

Keylock KT, Vieira VJ, Wallig MA, DiPietro L, Schrementi M, Woods JA (2008). Exercise accelerates cutaneous wound healing and decreases wound inflammation in aged mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 294:R179–84.

Kim D-H, Won S-Y, Bae J-H, Jung U-W, Park D-S, Kim H-J, et al. (2013). Topography of the greater palatine artery and the palatal vault for various types of periodontal plastic surgery. *Clin Anat*. [Epub ahead of print].

Koivisto L, Larjava K, Häkkinen L, Uitto V, Heino J, Larjava H (1999). Different integrins mediate cell spreading, haptotaxis and lateral migration of HaCaT keratinocytes on fibronectin. *Cell Adhes. Commun.* 7:245–257.

Kopp J, Preis E, Said H, Hafemann B, Wickert L, Gressner AM, et al. (2005). Abrogation of transforming growth factor-beta signaling by SMAD7 inhibits collagen gel contraction of human dermal fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280:21570–21576.

Köse O, Waseem A (2008). Keloids and hypertrophic scars: are they two different sides of the same coin? *Dermatol Surg* 34:336–346.

Kyriakides TR, Wulsin D, Skokos EA, Fleckman P, Pirrone A, Shipley JM, et al. (2009). Mice that lack matrix metalloproteinase-9 display delayed wound healing associated with delayed reepithelization and disordered collagen fibrillogenesis. *Matrix Biol.* 28:65–73.

Langer B, Langer L (1985). Subepithelial connective tissue graft technique for root coverage. *Journal of periodontology* 56(12):715-720.

Larjava H, Haapasalmi K, Salo T, Wiebe C, Uitto V (1996). Keratinocyte integrins in wound healing and chronic inflammation of the human periodontium. *Oral Dis* 2:77–86.

Larjava H, Koivisto L, Häkkinen L, Heino J (2011). Epithelial integrins with special reference to oral epithelia. *Journal of Dental Research* 90:1367–1376.

Larjava H, Salo T, Haapasalmi K, Kramer RH, Heino J (1993). Expression of integrins and basement membrane components by wound keratinocytes. *J. Clin. Invest.* 92:1425–1435.

Larson BJ, Longaker MT, Lorenz HP (2010). Scarless fetal wound healing: a basic science review. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 126:1172–1180.

Laurens N, Koolwijk P, de Maat MPM (2006). Fibrin structure and wound healing. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 4:932–939.

Lee E, Xia Y, Kim W-S, Kim MH, Kim TH, Kim KJ, et al. (2009). Hypoxia-enhanced woundhealing function of adipose-derived stem cells: increase in stem cell proliferation and upregulation of VEGF and bFGF. *Wound Repair Regen* 17:540–547.

Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, et al. (2007). Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. *Cell* 130:691–703.

Leiss M, Beckmann K, Girós A, Costell M, Fässler R (2008). The role of integrin binding sites in fibronectin matrix assembly in vivo. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 20:502–507.

Lemons J, Feng XJ, Bennett BD, Legesse-Miller A (2010). Quiescent fibroblasts exhibit high metabolic activity. *PLoS biology* 8(10).

Levine JH, Moses HL, Gold LI, Nanney LB (1993). Spatial and temporal patterns of immunoreactive transforming growth factor beta 1, beta 2, and beta 3 during excisional wound repair. *Am. J. Pathol.* 143:368–380.

Li F, Huang Q, Chen J, Peng Y, Roop DR, Bedford JS, et al. (2010). Apoptotic cells activate the "phoenix rising" pathway to promote wound healing and tissue regeneration. *Sci Signal* 3:ra13.

Li Jie, Zhang Y-P, Kirsner RS (2003). Angiogenesis in wound repair: angiogenic growth factors and the extracellular matrix. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 60:107–114.

Li Z, Bao S, Wu Q, Wang H, Eyler C, Sathornsumetee S, et al. (2009). Hypoxia-inducible factors regulate tumorigenic capacity of glioma stem cells. *Cancer Cell* 15:501–513.

Liechty KW, Kim HB, Adzick NS, Crombleholme TM (2000). Fetal wound repair results in scar formation in interleukin-10-deficient mice in a syngeneic murine model of scarless fetal wound repair. *J. Pediatr. Surg.* 35:866–72– discussion 872–3.

Lim PK, Bliss SA, Patel SA, Taborga M, Dave MA, Gregory LA, et al. (2011). Gap junctionmediated import of microRNA from bone marrow stromal cells can elicit cell cycle quiescence in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 71:1550–1560.

Lin CG, Chen C-C, Leu S-J, Grzeszkiewicz TM, Lau LF (2005). Integrin-dependent functions of the angiogenic inducer NOV (CCN3): implication in wound healing. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280:8229–8237.

Lindhe J, Lang NP, Karring T, editors (2009). Clinical Periodontology and Implant Dentistry. 5<sup>th</sup> ed: Oxford: Blackwell.

Lingen MW (2001). Role of leukocytes and endothelial cells in the development of angiogenesis in inflammation and wound healing. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 125:67–71.

Liu X, Wu H, Byrne M, Krane S, Jaenisch R (1997). Type III collagen is crucial for collagen I fibrillogenesis and for normal cardiovascular development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94:1852–1856.

Loo JA, Yan W, Ramachandran P, Wong DT (2010). Comparative human salivary and plasma proteomes. *Journal of Dental Research* 89:1016–1023.

Lorenz HP, Longaker MT (2003). In utero surgery for cleft lip/palate: minimizing the "Ripple Effect" of scarring. *J Craniofac Surg* 14:504–511.

Mack JA, Feldman RJ, Itano N, Kimata K, Lauer M, Hascall VC, et al. (2012). Enhanced inflammation and accelerated wound closure following tetraphorbol ester application or full-thickness wounding in mice lacking hyaluronan synthases Has1 and Has3. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 132:198–207.

Mak K, Manji A, Gallant-Behm C, Wiebe C, Hart DA, Larjava H, et al. (2009). Scarless healing of oral mucosa is characterized by faster resolution of inflammation and control of myofibroblast action compared to skin wounds in the red Duroc pig model. *Journal of Dermatological Science* 56:168–180.

Marneros AG, Krieg T (2004). Keloids--clinical diagnosis, pathogenesis, and treatment options. *J Dtsch Dermatol Ges* 2:905–913.

Martin CW, Muir I (1990). The role of lymphocytes in wound healing. *British journal of plastic surgery* 43(6):655-662.

Menon GK (2002). New insights into skin structure: scratching the surface. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 54 Suppl 1:S3–17.

Meran S, Luo DD, Simpson R, Martin J, Wells A, Steadman R, et al. (2011). Hyaluronan facilitates transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1-dependent proliferation via CD44 and epidermal growth factor receptor interaction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286:17618–17630.

Meszaros AJ, Reichner JS, Albina JE (1999). Macrophage phagocytosis of wound neutrophils. J. Leukoc. Biol. 65:35–42.

Mirastschijski U, Schnabel R, Claes J, Schneider W, Agren MS, Haaksma C, et al. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition delays wound healing and blocks the latent transforming growth factor-beta1-promoted myofibroblast formation and function. *Wound Repair Regen* 18:223–234.

Monroe DM, Mackman N, Hoffman M (2010). Wound healing in hemophilia B mice and low tissue factor mice. *Thromb. Res.* 125 Suppl 1:S74–7.

Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE (2008). The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 8:618–631.

Nanci A (2008). Ten Cate's Oral Histology. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Nedelec B, Shankowsky H, Scott P, Ghahary A, Tredget EE (2001). Myofibroblasts and apoptosis in human hypertrophic scars: the effect of interferon-alpha2b. *Surgery* 130:798–808.

Neely AN, Clendening CE, Gardner J, Greenhalgh DG, Warden GD (1999). Gelatinase activity in keloids and hypertrophic scars. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 7:166–171.

Nieves BJ, D'Amore PA, Bryan BA (2009). The function of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Biofactors* 35:332–337.

Nikolopoulos SN, Blaikie P, Yoshioka T, Guo W, Puri C, Tacchetti C, et al. (2005). Targeted deletion of the integrin beta4 signaling domain suppresses laminin-5-dependent nuclear entry of mitogen-activated protein kinases and NF-kappaB, causing defects in epidermal growth and migration. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25:6090–6102.

Novo E, Parola M (2008). Redox mechanisms in hepatic chronic wound healing and fibrogenesis. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* 1:5.

O'Brien M (2012). The reciprocal relationship between inflammation and coagulation. *Top Companion Anim Med* 27:46–52.

Okado T, Terada Y, Tanaka H, Inoshita S, Nakao A (2002). Smad7 mediates transforming growth factor-beta–induced apoptosis in mesangial cells. *Kidney Int.* 62(4):1178-1186.

Okamoto O, Bachy S, Odenthal U, Bernaud J, Rigal D, Lortat-Jacob H, et al. (2003). Normal human keratinocytes bind to the alpha3LG4/5 domain of unprocessed laminin-5 through the receptor syndecan-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:44168–44177.

Okazaki M, Yoshimura K, Uchida G, Harii K (2002). Elevated expression of hepatocyte and keratinocyte growth factor in cultured buccal-mucosa-derived fibroblasts compared with normal-skin-derived fibroblasts. *Journal of Dermatological Science* 30:108–115.

Oksala O, Salo T, Tammi R, Häkkinen L, Jalkanen M, Inki P, et al. (1995). Expression of proteoglycans and hyaluronan during wound healing. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 43:125–135.

Olutoye OO, Yager DR, Cohen IK, Diegelmann RF (1996). Lower cytokine release by fetal porcine platelets: a possible explanation for reduced inflammation after fetal wounding. *J. Pediatr. Surg.* 31:91–95.

Otrock ZK, Makarem JA, Shamseddine AI (2007). Vascular endothelial growth factor family of ligands and receptors: review. *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.* 38:258–268.

Park JE, Barbul A (2004). Understanding the role of immune regulation in wound healing. *Am. J. Surg.* 187:11S–16S.

Pedlar J (1984). Biochemistry of glycosaminoglycans in the skin and oral mucosa of the rat. *Arch. Oral Biol.* 29:591–597.

Peranteau WH, Zhang L, Muvarak N, Badillo AT, Radu A, Zoltick PW, et al. (2008). IL-10 overexpression decreases inflammatory mediators and promotes regenerative healing in an adult model of scar formation. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 128:1852–1860.

Phelps EA, Garcia AJ (2009). Update on therapeutic vascularization strategies. *Regen Med* 4:65–80.

Pollard JW (2009). Trophic macrophages in development and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9:259–270.

Provenzano PP, Keely PJ (2011). Mechanical signaling through the cytoskeleton regulates cell proliferation by coordinated focal adhesion and Rho GTPase signaling. *J. Cell. Sci.* 124:1195–1205.

Putnins EE, Firth JD, Lohachitranont A, Uitto V, Larjava H (1999). Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) promotes keratinocyte cell attachment and migration on collagen and fibronectin. *Cell Adhes. Commun.* 7:211–221.

Raoudi MD, Tranchepain F (2008). Differential effects of hyaluronan and its fragments on fibroblasts: relation to wound healing. *Wound Repair and* ....

Reynolds LE, Conti FJ, Lucas M, Grose R, Robinson S, Stone M, et al. (2005). Accelerated reepithelialization in beta3-integrin-deficient- mice is associated with enhanced TGF-beta1 signaling. *Nat. Med.* 11:167–174.

Ribatti D (2009). Endogenous inhibitors of angiogenesis: a historical review. *Leuk. Res.* 33:638–644.

Ribatti D, Crivellato E, Molica S (2009). Mast cells and angiogenesis in haematological malignancies. *Leuk. Res.* 33:876–879.

Robson MC, Steed DL, Franz MG (2001). Wound healing: biologic features and approaches to maximize healing trajectories. *Curr Probl Surg* 38:72–140.

Romer J, Bugge TH, Pyke C, Lund LR, Flick MJ, Degen JL, et al. (1996). Impaired wound healing in mice with a disrupted plasminogen gene. *Nat. Med.* 2:287–292.

Roosterman D, Goerge T, Schneider SW, Bunnett NW, Steinhoff M (2006). Neuronal control of skin function: the skin as a neuroimmunoendocrine organ. *Physiol. Rev.* 86:1309–1379.

Ross EV, Naseef GS, McKinlay JR, Barnette DJ, Skrobal M, Grevelink J, et al. (2000). Comparison of carbon dioxide laser, erbium: YAG laser, dermabrasion, and dermatome: a study of thermal damage, wound contraction, and wound healing in a live pig model: implications for skin resurfacing. *J. Am. Acad. Dermatol.* 42:92–105.

Ruggeri ZM (2009). Platelet adhesion under flow. Microcirculation 16:58-83.

Russell AJ, Fincher EF, Millman L, Smith R, Vela V, Waterman EA, et al. (2003). Alpha 6 beta 4 integrin regulates keratinocyte chemotaxis through differential GTPase activation and antagonism of alpha 3 beta 1 integrin. *J. Cell. Sci.* 116:3543–3556.

Salonurmi T, Parikka M, Kontusaari S, Pirilä E, Munaut C, Salo T, et al. (2004). Overexpression of TIMP-1 under the MMP-9 promoter interferes with wound healing in transgenic mice. *Cell Tissue Res.* 315:27–37.

Sano S, Chan KS, DiGiovanni J (2008). Impact of Stat3 activation upon skin biology: a dichotomy of its role between homeostasis and diseases. *Journal of Dermatological Science* 50:1–14.

Sato Y, Ohshima T, Kondo T (1999). Regulatory role of endogenous interleukin-10 in cutaneous inflammatory response of murine wound healing. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 265:194–199.

Satoh Y, Saitoh D, Takeuchi A, Ojima K, Kouzu K, Kawakami S, et al. (2009). ERK2 dependent signaling contributes to wound healing after a partial-thickness burn. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 381:118–122.

Sayani K, Dodd CM, Nedelec B, Shen YJ, Ghahary A, Tredget EE, et al. (2000). Delayed appearance of decorin in healing burn scars. *Histopathology* 36:262–272.

Schelfhout VRJ, Coene ED, Delaey B, Waeytens AAT, De Rycke L, Deleu M, et al. (2002). The role of heregulin-alpha as a motility factor and amphiregulin as a growth factor in wound healing. *J. Pathol.* 198:523–533.

Schneider H, Mühle C, Pacho F (2007). Biological function of laminin-5 and pathogenic impact of its deficiency. *European journal of cell biology*.

Schneider IC, Haugh JM (2006). Mechanisms of gradient sensing and chemotaxis: conserved pathways, diverse regulation. *Cell Cycle* 5:1130–1134.

Schrementi ME, Ferreira AM, Zender C, DiPietro LA (2008). Site-specific production of TGFbeta in oral mucosal and cutaneous wounds. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 16:80–86.

Schroeder HE, Amstad-Jossi M (1984). Type and variability of the stratum corneum in normal and diseased human oral stratified epithelia. *J Biol Buccale* 12:101–116.

Schultz GS, Davidson JM, Kirsner RS, Bornstein P, Herman IM (2011). Dynamic reciprocity in the wound microenvironment. *Wound Repair Regen* 19:134–148.

Schultz GS, Wysocki A (2009). Interactions between extracellular matrix and growth factors in wound healing. *Wound Repair Regen* 17:153–162.

Schwartzfarb E, Kirsner RS (2012). Understanding scarring: scarless fetal wound healing as a model. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 132:260–260.

Sciubba JJ, Waterhouse JP, Meyer J (1978). A fine structural comparison of the healing of incisional wounds of mucosa and skin. *J. Oral Pathol.* 7:214–227.

Senger DR, Claffey KP, Benes JE, Perruzzi CA, Sergiou AP, Detmar M (1997). Angiogenesis promoted by vascular endothelial growth factor: regulation through alpha1beta1 and alpha2beta1 integrins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94:13612–13617.

Serhan CN (2011). The resolution of inflammation: the devil in the flask and in the details. *FASEB J.* 25:1441–1448.

Serini G, Bochaton-Piallat ML, Ropraz P, Geinoz A, Borsi L, Zardi L, et al. (1998). The fibronectin domain ED-A is crucial for myofibroblastic phenotype induction by transforming growth factor-beta1. *J. Cell Biol.* 142:873–881.

Shah M, Foreman DM, Ferguson MW (1992). Control of scarring in adult wounds by neutralising antibody to transforming growth factor beta. *Lancet* 339:213–214.

Shah M, Foreman DM, Ferguson MW (1995). Neutralisation of TGF-beta 1 and TGF-beta 2 or exogenous addition of TGF-beta 3 to cutaneous rat wounds reduces scarring. *J. Cell. Sci.* 108 (Pt 3):985–1002.

Shaw TJ, Martin P (2009). Wound repair at a glance. J. Cell. Sci. 122:3209-3213.

Shiota N, Nishikori Y, Kakizoe E, Shimoura K, Niibayashi T, Shimbori C, et al. (2010). Pathophysiological role of skin mast cells in wound healing after scald injury: study with mast cell-deficient W/W(V) mice. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 151:80–88.

Sible JC, Rettig WJ, Eriksson E, Smith SP, Oliver N (1995). Gene expression of tenascin is altered in normal scars and keloids. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 3:37–48.

Simons M, Ziviani J, Thorley M, McNee J, Tyack Z (2013). Exploring reliability of scar rating scales using photographs of burns from children aged up to 15 years. *J Burn Care Res* 34:427–438.

Singer AJ, Clark RA (1999). Cutaneous wound healing. N. Engl. J. Med. 341:738-746.

Singh P, Carraher C, Schwarzbauer JE (2010). Assembly of fibronectin extracellular matrix. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 26:397–419.

Singh P, Chen C, Pal-Ghosh S, Stepp MA, Sheppard D, Van De Water L (2009). Loss of integrin alpha9beta1 results in defects in proliferation, causing poor re-epithelialization during cutaneous wound healing. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 129:217–228.

Singh P, Reimer CL, Peters JH, Stepp MA, Hynes RO, Van De Water L (2004). The spatial and temporal expression patterns of integrin alpha9beta1 and one of its ligands, the EIIIA segment of fibronectin, in cutaneous wound healing. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 123:1176–1181.

Sisco M, Chao JD, Kim I, Mogford JE, Mayadas TN, Mustoe TA (2007). Delayed wound healing in Mac-1-deficient mice is associated with normal monocyte recruitment. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 15:566–571.

Slemp AE, Kirschner RE (2006). Keloids and scars: a review of keloids and scars, their pathogenesis, risk factors, and management. *Curr Opin Pediatr* 18:396–402.

Soltani AM, Francis CS, Motamed A, Karatsonyi AL, Hammoudeh JA, Sanchez-Lara PA, et al. (2012). Hypertrophic scarring in cleft lip repair: a comparison of incidence among ethnic groups. *Clin Epidemiol* 4:187–191.

Song B, Zhao M, Forrester J, McCaig C (2004). Nerve regeneration and wound healing are stimulated and directed by an endogenous electrical field in vivo. *J. Cell. Sci.* 117:4681–4690.

Song B, Zhao M, Forrester JV, McCaig CD (2002). Electrical cues regulate the orientation and frequency of cell division and the rate of wound healing in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99:13577–13582.

Sorrell JM, Caplan AI (2009). Fibroblasts-a diverse population at the center of it all. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* 276:161–214.

Steffensen B, Häkkinen L, Larjava H (2001). Proteolytic events of wound-healing--coordinated interactions among matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), integrins, and extracellular matrix molecules. *Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med.* 12:373–398.

Stephens P, Genever P (2007). Non-epithelial oral mucosal progenitor cell populations. *Oral Dis* 13:1–10.

Stepp MA, Gibson HE, Gala PH, Iglesia DDS, Pajoohesh-Ganji A, Pal-Ghosh S, et al. (2002). Defects in keratinocyte activation during wound healing in the syndecan-1-deficient mouse. *J. Cell. Sci.* 115:4517–4531.

Stoscheck CM, Nanney LB, King LE (1992). Quantitative determination of EGF-R during epidermal wound healing. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 99:645–649.

Su M, Borke JL, Donahue HJ, Li Z, Warshawsky NM, Russell CM, et al. (1997). Expression of connexin 43 in rat mandibular bone and periodontal ligament (PDL) cells during experimental tooth movement. *Journal of Dental Research* 76:1357–1366.

Sullivan HC, Atkins JH (1968). Free autogenous gingival grafts. I. Principles of successful grafting. *Periodontics* 6(Pt 3):121-129.

Sullivan M, Puolakkainen P, Barker T, Funk S, Sage E (2008). Altered tissue repair in hevin-null mice: inhibition of fibroblast migration by a matricellular SPARC homolog. *Wound Repair Regen* 16:310–319.

Sullivan T, Eaglstein W, Davis S, Mertz P (2001). The pig as a model for human wound healing. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 9:66–76.

Swift ME, Burns AL, Gray KL, DiPietro LA (2001). Age-related alterations in the inflammatory response to dermal injury. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 117:1027–1035.

Swindle CS, Tran KT, Johnson TD, Banerjee P, Mayes AM, Griffith L, et al. (2001). Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeats of human tenascin-C as ligands for EGF receptor. *J. Cell Biol.* 154:459–468.

Szpaderska AM, Walsh CG, Steinberg MJ, DiPietro LA (2005). Distinct patterns of angiogenesis in oral and skin wounds. *Journal of Dental Research* 84:309–314.

Szpaderska AM, Zuckerman JD, DiPietro LA (2003). Differential Injury Responses in Oral Mucosal and Cutaneous Wounds. *Journal of Dental Research* 82:621–626.

Szulgit G, Rudolph R, Wandel A, Tenenhaus M, Panos R, Gardner H (2002). Alterations in fibroblast alpha1beta1 integrin collagen receptor expression in keloids and hypertrophic scars. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 118:409–415.

Tazzyman S, Lewis CE, Murdoch C (2009). Neutrophils: key mediators of tumour angiogenesis. *Int J Exp Pathol* 90:222–231.

Terada Y, Hanada S, Nakao A, Kuwahara M, Sasaki S, Marumo F (2002). Gene transfer of Smad7 using electroporation of adenovirus prevents renal fibrosis in post-obstructed kidney. *Kidney Int.* 61:S94–8.

Toriseva M, Kähäri V (2009). Proteinases in cutaneous wound healing. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 66:203–224.

Tran KT, Griffith L, Wells A (2004). Extracellular matrix signaling through growth factor receptors during wound healing. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 12:262–268.

Tscharntke M, Pofahl R, Chrostek-Grashoff A, Smyth N, Niessen C, Niemann C, et al. (2007). Impaired epidermal wound healing in vivo upon inhibition or deletion of Rac1. *J. Cell. Sci.* 120:1480–1490.

Turabelidze A, DiPietro LA (2011). Inflammation and wound healing. Endodontic Topics.

Vaalamo M, Weckroth M, Puolakkainen P, Kere J, Saarinen P, Lauharanta J, et al. (1996). Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase and TIMP-1 expression in chronic and normally healing human cutaneous wounds. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 135:52–59.

van Beurden HE, den Hoff Von JW, Torensma R, Maltha JC, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM (2005). Myofibroblasts in palatal wound healing: prospects for the reduction of wound contraction after cleft palate repair. *Journal of Dental Research* 84:871–880.

van den Bogaerdt AJ, van der Veen VC, van Zuijlen PPM, Reijnen L, Verkerk M, Bank RA, et al. (2009). Collagen cross-linking by adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells and scarderived mesenchymal cells: Are mesenchymal stromal cells involved in scar formation? *Wound Repair Regen* 17:548–558.

van Hinsbergh VWM, Engelse MA, Quax PHA (2006). Pericellular proteases in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 26:716–728.

Vogel BE, Tarone G, Giancotti FG, Gailit J, Ruoslahti E (1990). A novel fibronectin receptor with an unexpected subunit composition (alpha v beta 1). *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:5934–5937.

Waddington SN, Crossley R, Sheard V, Howe SJ, Buckley SMK, Coughlan L, et al. (2010). Gene delivery of a mutant TGF $\beta$ 3 reduces markers of scar tissue formation after cutaneous wounding. *Mol. Ther.* 18:2104–2111.

Wang XJ, Han G, Owens P, Siddiqui Y, Li AG (2006). Role of TGF beta-mediated inflammation in cutaneous wound healing. *J. Investig. Dermatol. Symp. Proc.* 11:112–117.

Wang Z, Gao Z, Shi Y, Sun Y, Lin Z, Jiang H, et al. (2007). Inhibition of Smad3 expression decreases collagen synthesis in keloid disease fibroblasts. *J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg* 60:1193–1199.

Ware J, Corken A, Khetpal R (2013). Platelet function beyond hemostasis and thrombosis. *Curr. Opin. Hematol.* 

Weller K, Foitzik K, Paus R, Syska W, Maurer M (2006). Mast cells are required for normal healing of skin wounds in mice. *FASEB J*. 20:2366–2368.

Wenczak BA, Lynch JB, Nanney LB (1992). Epidermal growth factor receptor distribution in burn wounds. Implications for growth factor-mediated repair. J. Clin. Invest. 90:2392–2401.

Werner S, Grose R (2003). Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. *Physiol. Rev.* 83:835–870.

Whitby DJ, Longaker MT, Harrison MR, Adzick NS, Ferguson MW (1991). Rapid epithelialisation of fetal wounds is associated with the early deposition of tenascin. *J. Cell. Sci.* 99 (Pt 3):583–586.

Wilgus TA (2008). Immune cells in the healing skin wound: influential players at each stage of repair. *Pharmacol. Res.* 58:112–116.

Wong JW, Gallant-Behm C, Wiebe C, Mak K, Hart DA, Larjava H, et al. (2009). Wound healing in oral mucosa results in reduced scar formation as compared with skin: Evidence from the red Duroc pig model and humans. *Wound Repair and Regeneration* 17:717–729.

Wynn TA, Cheever AW, Jankovic D, Poindexter RW (1995). An IL-12-based vaccination method for preventing fibrosis induced by schistosome infection.

Wynn TA, Reynolds A, James S (1996). IL-12 enhances vaccine-induced immunity to schistosomes by augmenting both humoral and cell-mediated immune responses against the parasite. *The Journal of* ....

Xue H, McCauley RL, Zhang W (2000). Elevated interleukin-6 expression in keloid fibroblasts. *J. Surg. Res.* 89:74–77.

Yang L, Qiu CX, Ludlow A, Ferguson MW, Brunner G (1999). Active transforming growth factor-beta in wound repair: determination using a new assay. *Am. J. Pathol.* 154:105–111.

Zhang QZ, Su WR, Shi SH, Wilder Smith P, Xiang AP, Wong A, et al. (2010). Human Gingiva-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Elicit Polarization of M2 Macrophages and Enhance Cutaneous Wound Healing. *STEM CELLS* 28:1856–1868.

Zhang Z, Morla AO, Vuori K, Bauer JS, Juliano RL, Ruoslahti E (1993). The alpha v beta 1 integrin functions as a fibronectin receptor but does not support fibronectin matrix assembly and cell migration on fibronectin. *J. Cell Biol.* 122:235–242.

Zhang Z, Vuori K, Reed JC, Ruoslahti E (1995). The alpha 5 beta 1 integrin supports survival of cells on fibronectin and up-regulates Bcl-2 expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92:6161–6165.

Zhao M (2009). Electrical fields in wound healing-An overriding signal that directs cell migration. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 20:674–682.

Zhu Q, Li Jian (2011). A combined candidate therapy for the scar-free repair of cleft lip based on inhibitors of TGF-β. *Med. Hypotheses* 76:86–88.